
Snam Half - year Report 2012

Consolidated half-year  
report at 30 June 2012



2 Snam Directors' Report / Financial review

Snam Half - year Report 2012

MISSION

We are a company at the forefront of the regulated gas sector in Italy

and a major player in Europe in terms of regulatory asset base (RAB).

We have excellent expertise in the transportation, dispatch,

storage and distribution of natural gas, and the regasification

of liquefied natural gas.

We have provided our customers with a safe and dependable

service over time. We do this through our commitment to developing

infrastructure and creating a flexible gas market according

to the principles of competition and assuring our customers

equal access to infrastructures and equal treatment.

Our aim is to create value that will fulfil our shareholders’ expectations.

We are able to realise this commitment thanks to professional skills

of people who, on a daily basis, do their utmost to achieve

sustainable growth that is environmentally friendly and accountable

to local areas and their communities.



Disclaimer

This report includes forward-looking statements, especially in the “Outlook” section, relating to: natural 

gas demand, investment plans, future operating performance and project execution.

Such statements are, by their very nature, subject to risk and uncertainty as they depend on whether future 

events and developments take place. The actual results may therefore differ from those forecast as a result 

of several factors: trends in natural gas demand, supply and price, actual operating performance, general 

macro-economic conditions, geopolitical factors such as international tensions, the effect of new energy 

and environmental legislation, the successful development and implementation of new technologies, 

changes in stakeholders’ expectations and other changes in business conditions.
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HIGHlIGHTS

 

Financial highlights 

• In the first half of 2012, Snam achieved EBIT of €1,013 million, an increase of 2.7% on the first half 

of 2011. The increase mainly reflected higher revenue from regulated activities across all the main 

areas of business, partly absorbed by greater amortisation and depreciation – mainly due to the entry 

into service of new infrastructure – and higher operating costs. The increase in EBIT reflects a positive 

performance by the storage business segment (+€20 million: +14.4%) and an improvement in the 

natural gas distribution and transportation business segments.

• The net profit registered in the first half of 2012 of €508 million (-11.8%) was significantly affected 

by the application of additional IRES (the “Robin Hood Tax”, in force since 13 August 2011) to the 

natural gas transportation and distribution business segments, which entailed an increase in tax of 

€76 million. An increase in net financial expense (-15.2%) also contributed to the reduction, mainly 

due to the higher cost of debt and the rise in average debt for the period.

• The net cash flow from operations (€614 million) allowed us to cover almost entirely the financial 

requirements associated with net investments for the period of €678 million. The net financial debt 

of €11,734 million, after the payment to shareholders of the balance of the 2011 dividend of €473 

million, increased by €537 million compared with 31 December 2011.

• In view of the projected results for the full-year 2012, the CEO will recommend to the Board of 

Directors of Snam S.p.A., subject to the approval of the independent auditors as referred to in Article 

2433-bis of the Italian Civil Code, the payment to shareholders of a 2012 interim dividend of €0.10 

per share (€0.10 per share in 2011) with an ex-dividend date of 22 October 2012 and a dividend date 

of 25 October 2012.

• Investments for the first half of 2012 totalled €524 million (€681 million in the first half of 2011). 

Subsidised investments represent 70% of total investments.

• The Snam share ended the first half of 2012 at an official listed price of €3.52 per share, 3.8% higher 

than the closing price of the share at the end of December 2011, outperforming both the Italian 

stock market (FTSE MIB: -5.4%) and the European utilities sector (Eurostoxx Utilities: unchanged). 

The European financial markets were on a downward trend in the half-year, particularly in the second 

quarter, due to the intensification of the debt crisis in the eurozone and the possible repercussions 

of this for the European banking sector. In this context of uncertainty and volatility, the Snam share 

benefited from the positive reception of the new industrial plan and the strategy of foreign expansion, 

as well as the definition of procedures for the sale of Eni’s controlling investment.

Snam Directors' Report  / Highlights
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Operating highlights

•	 A total of 40.88 billion cubic metres of natural gas was injected into the national transportation 

network, a reduction of 1.03 billion cubic metres (-2.5%) compared with the first half of 2011. This 

fall was attributable to reduced domestic demand for natural gas, essentially as a result of lower 

consumption in the power generation sector, partly offset by increased net injection into storage.

•	 In the first half of 2012, the LNG terminal at Panigaglia regasified 0.79 billion cubic metres of natural 

gas, a reduction of 0.21 billion cubic metres, or 21.0%, compared with the first half of 2011 (1.00 

billion cubic metres).

•	 Available storage capacity allocated at 30 June 2012 was approximately 10.7 billion cubic metres, an 

increase of 0.7 billion cubic metres (+7.0%) compared with 31 December 2011. The rise is chiefly due 

to investments in upgrades and development at the Fiume Treste and Sergnano concessions.

•	 As at 30 June 2012, the number of active meters located at end-user gas redelivery points stood at 

5.907 million units (5.897 at 31 December 2011).

Key events in the first half of 2012 

Decree of the President of the Council of Ministers (DPCM) of 25 May 2012 – Implementation of 

ownership unbundling between Eni and Snam 

Pursuant to Article 15 of Decree Law 1 of 24 January 2012 (the “Liberalisation Decree”), converted with 

amendments into Law 27 of 24 March 2012, relating to “Urgent provisions on competition, infrastructure 

development and competition”, the President of the Council of Ministers issued, on 25 May 2012, the 

decree defining the procedures and deadlines for ownership unbundling of Snam by Eni, which must take 

place within 18 months of the entry into force of the above conversion law (i.e. by 25 September 2013). The 

approval of the DPCM will complete the regulatory framework for the ownership unbundling of the natural 

gas transportation, distribution, storage and regasification activities, as defined by the Liberalisation Decree.

Specifically, Article 1 of the DPCM (“Ownership unbundling”), establishes that Eni must sell a total 

portion of no less than 25.1% of the share capital of Snam to Cassa Depositi e Prestiti S.p.A. (hereinafter 

CDP), according to the procedures defined by the Boards of Directors of the two companies. The aim is 

to maintain a stable core investment in Snam’s capital, to ensure the development of strategic activities 

and to safeguard the features of the public utility service provided by Snam. By acquiring at least 25.1% 

of Snam’s share capital, CDP plans to ensure independence between Eni and Snam (the “full impartiality 

of Snam” indicated in Article 15, paragraph 2 of the Decree Law).

To this end, on 30 May 2012, Eni and CDP announced to the market that they had reached a binding preliminary 

agreement for the sale to CDP of an equity investment of 30% minus one share in the voting capital of Snam 

owned by Eni. Completion of the transaction, possible from 15 October this year, is scheduled to take place 

by the end of 2012, provided that certain conditions precedent are met, including, principally, authorisation by 

the Competition Authority. Eni formalised the sale contract with CDP on 15 June 2012.

The residual portion of Eni’s equity investment in Snam (about 25% of the voting capital) must be 

sold, under the terms set by the DPCM, according to sales procedures which are transparent and do not 

discriminate between retail and institutional investors.

On 18 July 2012, Eni sold 5% of the share capital (amounting to 5.28% of the voting capital) of Snam 

S.p.A. to institutional investors.

Debt refinancing

As part of the general framework set out by the DPCM, with the aim of diversifying sources of funds 

by broadening the investor base, the Board of Directors of Snam resolved on 4 June 2012 to issue one 

or more bond loans for placement with institutional investors operating in Europe, on the basis of an 

issue programme of Euro Medium Term Notes (EMTN), for a total maximum amount of €8 billion, to be 

issued in one or more tranches by 4 June 2013. 

Snam Directors' Report  / Highlights
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The following bonds have been issued under the EMTN plan: (i) €1 billion on 11 July 2012 in the first 

bond issue. This 4-year bond loan will mature on 11 July 2016 and pays out an annual fixed-rate coupon 

of 4.375%; and (ii) €1 billion on 19 July 2012. This 6.5-year loan will mature on 18 January 2019 and 

pays out an annual fixed-rate coupon of 5.0%.

On 7 June 2012, Snam also signed, with a group of 11 leading national and international banks, 

a mandate for the structuring and underwriting of a pool loan of €11 billion, which will cover the 

group’s requirements, including the refinancing of its current debt to Eni. On 24 July 2012, Snam signed 

agreements for credit lines totalling €9 billion. The amount of the credit lines was lower than the original 

€11 billion due to the placement on the capital market of bonds totalling €2 billion.

As part of the debt refinancing project, a series of bilateral agreements have also been signed with some 

of these banks totalling around €3.5 billion, of which €3.2 billion had already been agreed upon at the 

date of this report (€1.5 billion drawn down by 30 June 2012).

These agreements will provide Snam with short-term financing based primarily on bank credit, but with 

the aim of progressively meeting a target debt structure largely made up of bond loans, in line with its 

business profile and the regulatory context in which it operates.

In support of the refinancing operation, on 13 June 2012 Snam obtained its first credit rating from 

Moody’s (Baa1 with stable outlook) and from Standard & Poor’s (A- with negative outlook, A-2).

Due to the downgrade of the debt rating assigned to the Italian Republic, on 16 July 2012 Moody’s 

announced a multiple review of the ratings and/or outlooks of a broad range of Italian companies, 

including Snam. Specifically, Snam’s rating of Baa1 has been placed under review for downgrade.

Developing business abroad

On 16 May 2012, Snam and Fluxys signed an agreement for the joint purchase, on an equal basis, of the 

15.09% stake in Interconnector UK (the operator that owns the underwater gas pipeline that forms a 

strategic, bi-directional connection between the UK and the major European gas trading marketplaces) 

held by E.ON. The transaction is scheduled for completion by the end of 2012, for €127 million in total.

The purchase will strengthen Snam’s equity investment in Interconnector UK, which is already sizeable due 

to the joint acquisition, with Fluxys, of the shares held by Eni (16.41%), and is part of a strategic alliance 

between Snam and Fluxys designed to promote integration of gas transportation networks in Europe.

Agreement between Italgas and Acegas-Aps for natural gas distribution in north-eastern Italy.

On 24 April 2012, Italgas and Acegas-Aps signed a memorandum of understanding to create a joint 

venture for the development of natural gas distribution activities in north-eastern Italy. The new 

agreement will enable up to 470 thousand users, spread across 76 municipalities under concession in the 

provinces of Padua, Pordenone, Trieste and Gorizia, to be served.

The transaction, which will see Italgas and Acegas-Aps holding respective stakes of 49% and 51% in the 

joint venture, is scheduled for completion at the end of 2012.
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KEY FIGURES

 

To improve the economic and financial review, in addition to conventional IAS/IFRS indicators and 

financial statements, the interim directors’ report also contains reclassified financial statements and 

several alternative performance indicators such as EBITDA, EBIT and net financial debt. The following 

tables, the explanatory notes thereto and the reclassified financial statements report these amounts; see 

the glossary for a definition of the terms used, where these are not specified.

KEY FINANCIAl FIGURES

Financial year First half

2011 (€ million) 2011 2012 Change % change

3,539 Core business revenue 1,744 1,791 47 2.7

3,179 Core business revenue net of the effects of IFRIC 12 1,576 1,644 68 4.3

993 Operating costs 462 505 43 9.3

633 Operating costs net of the effects of IFRIC 12 294 358 64 21.8

2,612 EBITDA 1,300 1,358 58 4.5

1,958 EBIT 986 1,013 27 2.7

790 Net profit (a) 576 508 (68) (11.8)

978 Adjusted net profit (b) 576 508 (68) (11.8)

(a)  Net profit is attributable to Snam.

(b)  Adjusted net profit for financial year 2011 excludes a deferred tax charge of €188 million relating to the adjustment of deferred tax at 31 December 2010 by the companies operating in 
natural gas transportation and distribution. From 13 August 2011, the additional IRES of 10.5% for three years (2011, 2012 and 2013) applies to these companies, after which a rate of 6.5% 
will apply from 2014.

KEY BAlANCE SHEET AND CASH FlOw FIGURES  

Financial year First half

2011 (€ million) 2011 2012 Change % change

1,585 Investments 681 524 (157) (23.1)

16,989 Net invested capital at period end 16,769 17,529 760 4.5

5,792 Shareholders' equity including minority interests at period end 6,038 5,795 (243) (4.0)

5,791 Shareholders’ equity attributable to the Group at period end 6,037 5,794 (243) (4.0)

11,197 Net financial debt at period end 10,731 11,734 1,003 9.3

(52) Free cash flow 78 (64) (142)  

Snam Directors' Report  / Key figures
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KEY SHARE FIGURES 

Financial year First half

2011 2011 2012 Change % change

3,571.2 Number of shares in share capital                                      (millions) 3,571.2      3,571.2  

3,378.6 Number of shares outstanding at the end of the period     (millions) 3,378.2      3,378.6 0.4  

3,378.0 Average number of shares outstanding during the period (millions) 3,377.5      3,378.6 1.1  

3.39 Official share price at period end (€) 4.07 3.52 (0.55) (13.5)

3.75 Average official share price during the period (€) 3.98 3.47 (0.51) (12.8)

KEY PROFIT INDICATORS

Financial year First half

2011 2011 2012 Change % change

0.580 EBIT per share (a) (€) 0.292 0.300 0.008 2.7

0.234 Net profit per share (a) (€) 0.170 0.150 (0.020) (11.8)

(a)  Calculated based on the average number of shares in issue during the period. 
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KEY OPERATING FIGURES  

Financial year First half

2011 2011 2012 Change % change

Natural gas transportation (a)

78.30
Natural gas injected into the national gas transportation network (billions 
of cubic metres) (b)

41.91 40.88 (1.03) (2.5)

32,010 Transportation network (kilometres in use) 31,716 32,108 392 1.2

Liquefied Natural Gas (LNG) regasification (a)     

1.89 LNG regasification (billions of cubic metres) 1.00 0.79 (0.21) (21.0)

Natural gas storage (a)     

10.0 Available storage capacity allocated (billions of cubic metres) (c) 10.0 10.7 0.7 7.0

15.31 Natural gas moved through the storage system (billions of cubic metres) 8.37 9.67 1.30 15.5

Natural gas distribution     

5.897 Active meters (millions) 5.873 5.907 0.034 0.6

1,449 Distribution concessions (number) 1,450 1,449 (1) (0.1)

50,301 Distribution network (kilometres) 50,422 50,500 78 0.2

6,112 Employees in service at period end (number) (d) 6,017 6,056 39 0.6

by business segment:      

2,755 - Transportation (e) 2,587 1,979 (608) (23.5)

74 - Regasification 69 75 6 8.7

278 - Storage 283 295 12 4.2

3,005 - Distribution 3,078 3,037 (41) (1.3)

- Corporate (e)  670 670  

(a)  Gas volumes are expressed in standard cubic metres (SCM) with an average higher heating value (HHV) of 38.1 and 38.9 MJ/SCM respectively for the businesses of natural gas transportation, 
regasification and storage.

(b)  Data for the first half of 2012 are current as of 3 July 2012. 2011 data have been aligned with data from the national gas transportation network report.

(c)  Working gas capacity for modulation, mining and balancing services. The available capacity is that declared to the Electricity and Gas Authority at the start of the thermal year 2012-2013, 
in compliance with ARG/gas Resolution 119/10.

(d)   Fully consolidated companies. 

(e)  2011 data for the “Transportation” segment also include personnel assigned to services provided by the parent company, based on activities carried out until 31 December 2011 by the 
former Snam Rete Gas S.p.A. (Snam S.p.A. since 1 January 2012). Since 1 January 2012, with the adoption of the new Snam Group ownership structure, the corresponding resources have 
been allocated to the “Corporate” segment, to reflect the activities carried out by parent company Snam S.p.A..
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SNAM AND THE FINANCIAL MARKETS - COMPARISON OF PRICES OF SNAM, FTSE MIB AND EURO STOXX 600 UTILITIES  
(31 December 2011 – 30 June 2012)
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NATURAl GAS TRANSPORTATION  

Introduction

On 1 January 2012, the transaction transferring the “Transportation, dispatch, remote control and 

metering of natural gas” of Snam S.p.A. (formerly Snam Rete Gas S.p.A.) to Snam Rete Gas S.p.A. 

(formerly Snam Trasporto S.p.A.), a wholly owned company and transportation system operator on a 

continuing basis from 1 January 2012, came into effect. The new ownership structure, which came into 

force on 1 January 2012, places Snam S.p.A. at the head of the Group, holding 100% of the share capital 

of the four operating companies (Snam Rete Gas S.p.A., Gnl Italia S.p.A., Stogit S.p.A. and Italgas S.p.A.), 

which are responsible, respectively, for the management and development of natural gas transportation, 

regasification, storage and distribution activities. Snam S.p.A. is also responsible for strategic planning, 

management and coordination and control.

Since 1 January 2012, information about parent company Snam S.p.A. has been reported in the “Corporate” 

segment1. Until 31 December 2011, this information, not reported separately, was included within the 

“Natural gas transportation” segment, reflecting the activities hitherto carried out by the parent company.

KEY PERFORmANCE INDICATORS  

Financial year First half

2011 (€ million) 2011 2012 Change % change

1,945 Core business revenue (*) (**) 970 961 (9) (0.9)

1,867 - of which natural gas transportation revenue 935 954 19 2.0

387 Operating costs (*)(**) 176 198 22 12.5

1,137 EBIT 588 589 1 0.2

892 Investments 369 301 (68) (18.4)

709 - of which with incentives 296 253 (43) (14.5)

183 - of which without incentives 73 48 (25) (34.2)

78.30
Natural gas injected in the national gas transportation network 
(billions of cubic metres)

41.91 40.88 (1.03) (2.5)

32,010 Transportation network (kilometres in use) 31,716 32,108 392 1.2

9,080 - of which national network 8,895 9,158 263 3.0

22,930 - of which regional network 22,821 22,950 129 0.6

(*)  Before consolidation adjustments.

(**)  Data for the first half of 2011 include: (i) revenue deriving from the recharge to subsidiaries of the costs incurred for services provided centrally by the parent company (€27 million); and 
(ii) income deriving from renting and maintaining fibre optic telecommunications cables (€5 million). Starting on 1 January 2012 and in line with the new ownership structure of the Snam 
Group, the costs and revenue arising from the management of the businesses are allocated to the Corporate segment.

Results

Revenue from natural gas transportation totalled €954 million, up by €19 million (2.0%) compared 

with the first half of 2011. This increase was due mainly to the contribution of investments made in 

2010 (+€46 million), the effects of which were partly offset by tariff updating (-€24 million) and lower 

volumes of natural gas transported (-€3 million).

1 In accordance with IFRS 8 “Operating segments”, the Corporate segment does not represent an operating segment. 
Therefore, the operating segments subject to separate reporting are the same as in the first half of 2011 (natural gas 
transportation, regasification, storage and distribution). 
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EBIT2 of €589 million was largely in line with the first half of 2011 (€588 million). Higher transportation 

revenue (+€19 million) were absorbed by greater amortisation and depreciation (-€10 million), mainly due 

to the entry into service of new infrastructure, and a decrease in other revenue and income (-€4 million). 

EBIT was also affected by lower revenue from rental and maintenance of fibre optic telecommunications 

cables (-€5 million), an activity remaining within the scope of Snam S.p.A.

Operating review 

INvESTmENTS 

Financial year First half

2011 (*) (€ million) 2011 (*) 2012 Change % change

601 Development 260 202 (58) (22.3)

356 Investments with 3% incentive 212 160 (52) (24.5)

245 Investments with 2% incentive 48 42 (6) (12.5)

    

291 maintenance and other 109 99 (10) (9.2)

108 Investments with 1% incentive 36 51 15 41.7

183 Investments with no incentives 73 48 (25) (34.2)

892 369 301 (68) (18.4)

(*)  Some projects previously included in categories of investments with 2% incentive were classified as incentives with 3% incentive. The corresponding 
amounts for 2011 were reclassified accordingly.     

Investments in the first half of 2012 amounted to €301 million, down €68 million, or 18.4%, compared 

with the first half of 2011.

Investments were classified in accordance with Resolution ARG/gas 184/09 of the Electricity and Gas 

Authority, which identified various categories of project with different incentive levels. 

Investments benefiting from incentive-based return account for 84% of the total. The breakdown of 

investments by category for 2011 and 2012 will be submitted to the Authority when it approves the 

proposed tariff for 2013 and 2014. The breakdown for 2014 may differ from the tariff in the current 

regulatory period, which ends on 31 December 2013.

The main investments with a 3% incentive (€160 million) were:

• materials for the Zimella-Cervignano methane pipeline in Veneto and Lombardy and the continuation 

of construction work on the Poggio Renatico-Cremona pipeline in Emilia-Romagna and Lombardy, as 

part of the project to upgrade the transportation infrastructure in the Po Valley (€82 million).

• as part of the enhancement of the import infrastructure in Sicily and Calabria (€25 million): (i) renovation 

work and equipment at the Enna station in Sicily; (ii) the continuation of construction work and materials 

for the upgrading of the Montesano station in Campania; and (iii) completion works on the sections 

already in service and construction of the tunnel section of the Montalbano-Messina pipeline in Sicily;

• the construction of infrastructure to connect with the Offshore LNG Toscana (OLT) regasification 

terminal at Livorno (€15 million) on the coast of Tuscany;

• the continuation of construction work on the main line of the Massafra-Biccari pipeline in Puglia and 

Basilicata as part of the new transportation infrastructure project on the Adriatic coast (€13 million);

2 EBIT is analysed by considering only those components that have changed it, since the application of the gas sector tariff rules 
generates revenue and cost items that offset each other: modulation, interconnection and balancing. Specifically, revenue 
(€46 million) from the balancing business, operational since 1 December 2011, in accordance with Resolution ARG/gas 
45/11 of the Electricity and Gas Authority, relates to sales of natural gas made for the purposes of balancing the gas network. 
The revenue is matched to operating costs linked to withdrawals from the gas storage system. 
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•	 the continuation of construction work on the Palaia-Collesalvetti pipeline in Tuscany (€13 million).

The main investments with a 2% incentive (€42 million) relate to a number of works to upgrade the 

regional and national network and to connect to new redelivery points, including:

•	 construction works on methane pipelines and associated connections, as part of the natural gas 

conversion project in Calabria (€6 million).

•	 completion of construction works on the methane pipeline connecting the Edison Stoccaggio storage 

station in Collalto, Veneto (€6 million).

The main investments with a 1% incentive (€51 million) involved numerous projects aimed at 

maintaining adequate safety and quality levels at the stations.

NATURAl GAS INjECTED INTO THE GAS TRANSPORTATION NETwORK  

Financial year First half

2011 (billion m3) 2011 2012 Change % change

8.03 Domestic output 3.85 4.11 0.26 6.8

70.27 Imports (entry points) 38.06 36.77 (1.29) (3.4)

26.45 Tarvisio 13.71 11.58 (2.13) (15.5)

21.55 Mazara del Vallo 13.25 12.42 (0.83) (6.3)

10.86 Gries Pass 4.82 5.29 0.47 9.8

7.02 Cavarzere (LNG) 3.85 3.41 (0.44) (11.4)

2.34 Gela 1.34 3.17 1.83

1.89 Panigaglia (LNG) 1.00 0.79 (0.21) (21.0)

0.16 Gorizia 0.09 0.11 0.02 22.2

78.30 41.91 40.88 (1.03) (2.5)

The amount of natural gas injected into the national gas transportation network in the first half of 

2012 was 40.88 billion cubic metres, down by 1.03 billion cubic metres, or 2.5%, compared with the first 

half of 2011. This decrease was due to lower demand for natural gas in Italy (-2.3%), mainly reflecting 

lower consumption in the power generation sector (-12.3%), partly absorbed by increased demand in the 

residential and tertiary sector (+3.9%) due to lower temperatures.

Natural gas injected into the national network from domestic production fields or their collection and 

treatment centres was 4.11 billion cubic metres, up by 0.26 billion cubic metres (6.8%) compared with 

the first half of 2011.

Imports by entry point, which registered a reduction of 1.29 billion cubic metres (-3.4%) compared with 

the first half of 2011, show lower volumes imported at the entry points of Tarvizio (-2.13 billion cubic 

metres, or -15.5%) resulting from lower gas imports from Russia; at Mazara del Vallo (-0.83 billion cubic 

metres, or -6.3%) and at the regasification terminals of Cavarzere and Panigaglia (-0.44 and -0.21 billion 

cubic metres respectively), against an increase in imports through the entry points of Gela (+1.83 billion 

cubic metres), which was negatively affected by the Libyan crisis in the first half of 2011, and Gries Pass 

(+0.47 billion cubic metres, or +9.8%).
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lIqUEFIED NATURAl GAS (lNG) REGASIFICATION 

KEY PERFORmANCE INDICATORS  

Financial year First half

2011 (€ million) 2011 2012 Change % change

34 Core business revenue (*) (**) 17 17   

23 - of which LNG regasification revenue 12 11 (1) (8.3)

23 Operating costs (**) 12 14 2 16.7

7 EBIT 4 2 (2) (50.0)

3 Investments 1  (1) (100.0)

1.89 Volumes of LNG regasified (billions of cubic metres) 1.00 0.79 (0.21) (21.0)

50 Tanker loads (number) 25 23 (2) (8.0)

(*)  Core business revenue includes the recharging to customers of expenses relating to natural gas transportation services provided by Snam Rete Gas S.p.A. For the purposes of the consolidated 
financial statement this revenue is cancelled, together with transport costs, within GNL Italia S.p.A. in order to represent the substance of the operation.

(**) Before consolidation adjustments.

Results

Revenue from lNG regasification totalled €11 million, down €1 million compared with the first half 

of 2011, and relates to capacity fees3 (€10 million) and variable sums paid for regasified volumes (€1 

million).

EBIT was €2 million, down by €2 million, or 50.0%, on the first half of 2011. The decrease is due to the 

lower regasification revenue and higher operating costs.

Operating review

volumes of lNG regasified

During the first half of 2012, the LNG terminal at Panigaglia (SP) regasified 0.79 billion cubic metres of 

natural gas (1.00 billion cubic metres in the first half of 2011), unloading 23 methane tankers of various 

types (25 in the first half of 2011).

Regulation

Resolution 237/2012/R/gas– “Extension of the criteria for determining regasification tariffs for the 

transition period October 2012 - December 2013”.

With this resolution, which was published on 8 June 2012, the Authority extended the current tariff 

criteria for the regasification service for the transition period from 1 October 2012 to 31 December 

2013, specifically providing for the rate of remuneration of invested capital recognised to be updated 

from 7.6% to 8.2% in real pre-tax terms, based on the same parameters as those applied to the electricity 

sector for the fourth regulatory period.

3 Capacity fees include revenue related to the regasification commitment for an annual volume of LNG and a share of 
revenue related to the activity of docking and unloading methane tankers.  
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Snam Directors' Report  / Natural gas storage 

KEY PERFORmANCE INDICATORS 

Financial year First half

2011 (€ million) 2011 2012 Change % change

372 Core business revenue (*) 192 220 28 14.6

372 - of which natural gas storage revenue 192 220 28 14.6

64 Operating costs (*) 29 30 1 3.4

255 EBIT 139 159 20 14.4

296 Investments 131 63 (68) (51.9)

10 Concessions (number) 10 10   

8  - of which operational (**) 8 8   

15.31 Natural gas moved through the storage system (billions of cubic metres) 8.37 9.67 1.30 15.5

7.78 - of which injected 4.05 4.74 0.69 17.0

7.53 - of which withdrawn 4.32 4.93 0.61 14.1

10.0 Available storage capacity (billions of cubic metres) (***) 10.0 11.2 1.2 12.0

(*) Before consolidation adjustments.

(**) With working gas capacity for modulation services.

(***) Working gas capacity for modulation, mining and balancing services. The figure indicated represents the maximum available capacity and may not be in line with the maximum filling.

Results

Revenue from natural gas storage totalled €220 million , up €28 million (+14.6%) compared with the 

first half of 2011. The increase was mainly due to the investments made in 2010 (+€15 million). Storage 

revenue refers to modulation storage (€184 million; +15.7%) and strategic storage (€31 million; -6.1%).

EBIT came to €159 million in the first half of 2012, an increase of €20 million, or 14.4%, on the same 

period of 2011. The increase is mainly due to higher storage revenue (+€27 million, minus revenue 

netted against costs), as well as control of management costs. These factors were partially offset by 

increased amortisation and depreciation in the period due to the entry into service of new infrastructure 

(-€6 million).

4 Including payments received from Eni in addition to storage revenue for the thermal year from 1 April 2011 - 31 March 2012 (€5 
million) in respect of the agreement signed by Eni and Stogit relating to activities connected to Legislative Decree 130/2010. 
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Snam Directors' Report  / Natural gas storage 

5 Cushion gas is the minimum quantity of gas present in or injected into reservoirs during storage, which enables the extraction 
of the remaining volumes of gas without affecting, over time, the mineral characteristics of the reservoirs themselves. 

INvESTmENTS

Financial year First half

2011 (€ million) 2011 2012 Change % change

193 Development of new fields (4% incentive over 16 years) 97 27 (70) (72.2)

65 Upgrading of capacity (4% incentive over eight years) 21 27 6 28.6

38 maintenance and other 13 9 (4) (30.8)

296 131 63 (68) (51.9)

Investments in the first half of 2012 amounted to €63 million, down €68 million, or 51.9%, compared 

with the first half of 2011.

Investments were classified in accordance with Resolution ARG/gas 119/10 of the Electricity and Gas 

Authority, which identified various categories of projects with different incentive levels.

A total of 85.7% of these investments are expected to benefit from incentive-based return. The breakdown 

of investments in 2011 and 2012 by category will be submitted to the Authority when the respective 

tariff proposals for 2013 and 2014 are approved.

Investments with a 4% incentive over 16 years (€27 million) relate to development activities in 

progress at the Bordolano storage field, as well as at the Fiume Treste storage field, mainly for the 

injection of cushion gas5.

Investments with a 4% incentive over eight years (€27 million) refer to ongoing activities related to 

projects to increase pressure, mainly at the Sabbioncello, Minerbio and Settala storage fields.

Natural gas moved through the storage system

During the first half of 2012, 9.67 billion cubic metres of natural gas was moved through the storage 

system, an increase of 1.30 billion cubic metres (+15.5%) compared with the same period in the previous 

year. The increase was mainly due to greater withdrawals from storage (0.61 billion cubic metres, or 

+14.1%), due to the emergency weather conditions in the first quarter of 2012, and the consequent 

greater injection (+0.69 billion cubic metres, or +17.0%) into storage.

Total storage capacity at 30 June 2012, including strategic storage, was 15.7 billion cubic metres (+0.7 

billion cubic metres, or +4.7%), including 10.7 billion cubic metres in available capacity (10 billion cubic 

metres in thermal year 2011-2012), 4.5 billion cubic metres in strategic storage (5 billion cubic metres 

in thermal year 2011-2012) and 0.5 billion cubic metres in capacity made available due to reduced 

strategic storage.

This capacity will be allocated as provided for in Legislative Decree 93 of 1 June 2011, according to 

procedures to be put in place by Ministerial Decree, which has not yet been issued, assigning it “to 

companies with integrated services for transport by means of pipelines outside Italy and regasification with 

natural gas storage, designed to allow direct procurement of natural gas from abroad”.
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Regulation

Resolution 185/2012/R/gas – “Mechanism for adjustment of site restoration costs and changes of Annex 

A to the resolution of the Electricity and Gas Authority of 3 August 2010, ARG/gas 119/10”.

With this resolution, published on 10 May 2012, the Authority defined a mechanism for adjustment of 

any differences arising from the total restoration provision paid to the storage company and the costs 

actually sustained for restoration of the storage sites.

Snam Directors' Report  / Natural gas storage 
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NATURAl GAS DISTRIBUTION 

KEY PERFORmANCE INDICATORS 

Financial year First half

2011 (€ million) 2011 2012 Change % change

1,297 Core business revenue (*) 614 619 5 0.8

1,263 - of which natural gas distribution revenue 598 601 3 0.5

937 Core business revenue net of the effects of IFRIC 12 446 472 26 5.8

903 - of which natural gas distribution revenue 430 454 24 5.6

633 Operating costs (*) 296 296

273 Operating costs net of the effects of IFRIC 12 128 149 21 16.4

559 EBIT 255 259 4 1.6

394 Investments 180 157 (23) (12.8)

3,589 Net invested capital at period end 3,497 3,707 210 6.0

7,450 Gas distribution (millions of cubic metres) 4,418 4,547 129 2.9

50,301 Distribution network (kilometres) 50,422 50,500 78 0.2

5.897 Active meters (millions)  5.873 5.907 0.034 0.6

(*) Before consolidation adjustments.

Results

Natural gas distribution revenue in the first half of 2012 amounted to €601 million, a slight increase 

of €3 million or +0.5% compared with the first half of 2011. Excluding revenue deriving from application 

of IFRIC 12, distribution revenue recorded an increase of €24 million or 5.6%. This increase was mainly 

due to: (i) tariff updates (+€14 million); and (ii) application of the gradual increase mechanism (+€10 

million), introduced by the Electricity and Gas Authority with Resolution 79/096.

EBIT achieved in the first half of 2012 amounted to €259 million, an increase of €4 million or 1.6% 

compared with the first half of 2011. This increase was due essentially to: (i) increased revenue from 

natural gas distribution (+€24 million); (ii) an increase in other revenue and income (+€13 million), due 

principally to the sale of plants transferred to municipalities conceding natural gas distribution mandates; 

(iii) greater income from technical distribution services (+€4 million) deriving mainly from recognition 

of costs relating to switch readers7. These factors were partly offset by: (i) increased operating costs 

(-€21 million) attributable mainly to greater allocations to provisions for risks and charges (-€6 million) 

and to higher net charges arising from the management of Energy Efficiency Certificates (-€5 million); 

and (ii) increased depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses (-€14 million), due to the entry 

into service of new infrastructure (-€6 million), and recovery of value in the first half of 2011 on certain 

assets impaired during 2010 (-€8 million).

6 In particular, with this resolution which amended the tariff criteria in effect under prior Resolution 159/08, the Authority 
introduced a gradual increase in the amortised tariff component for the new regulatory period, which is in addition to that 
already provided for returns on invested capital. 

7 The Electricity and Gas Authority’s Resolution ARG/gas 159/08 provided for the introduction of a specific mechanism for 
standardising meter reading costs, which produces breakeven costs for businesses taking account of the fact that readings 
from switch meters will be compulsory but will be provided free of charge.
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Operating review  

INvESTmENTS 

Financial year First half

2011 (€ million) 2011 2012 Change % change

215 Distribution 102 109 7 6.9

171 Network maintenance and development 79 85 6 7.6

44 Replacement of cast-iron pipes (2% incentive) 23 24 1 4.3

144 metering (8% remuneration) 66 38 (28) (42.4)

35 Other investments 12 10 (2) (16.7)

394 180 157 (23) (12.8)

Investments in the first half of 2012 amounted to €157 million, down €23 million, or 12.8%, compared 

with the first half of 2011.

Investments in distribution (€109 million) related mainly to renovating sections of obsolete pipe, 

including by replacing cast-iron pipes, and by extending and upgrading the distribution network.

Investments in metering (€38 million) primarily concerned the meter replacement programme and the 

remote meter-reading project.

Other investments (€10 million) mainly concerned investments in IT, property and vehicles.

In addition to investments, business units were acquired in the first half of 2012 for €31 million in total. 

These units related mainly to gas distribution infrastructure in the municipalities of Cernusco sul Naviglio 

and Sulmona.

Distribution network

At 30 June 2012, the gas distribution network covered 50,500 kilometres (50,301 kilometres at 31 December 

2011). The change by comparison with 31 December 2011 (+199 kilometres) is attributable to:

•	 the	sale	to	another	operator	of	facilities	in	the	municipality	of	Rieti,	partly	absorbed	by	the	start	of	

managing the gas distribution service in the municipality of Cernusco sul Naviglio (MI);

•	 the	construction	of	new	networks;

•	 extensions	of	networks	to	meet	commitments	deriving	from	concession	contracts;

•	 requests	by	end	users	(households,	businesses,	etc.)	for	access	to	the	service.

Gas distribution 

In the first half of 2012, 4,547 million cubic metres of gas were distributed, an increase of 129 million 

cubic metres or 2.9% compared with the same period in 2011.

At 30 June 2012, Snam held concessions for gas distribution services in 1,449 municipalities (unchanged 

from 31 December 2011), of which 1,338 were in operation and 111 were awaiting the completion and/or 

construction of networks. The number of active meters at gas redelivery points to end users (households, 

businesses, etc.) totalled 5.907 million units, compared with 5.897 million units at 31 December 2011.

In addition, on 29 June 2012, 14 plants owned by the province of Udine were officially transferred to the 

Comunità Collinare del Friuli, to take effect from 1 July 2012.

Distribution concession in the municipality of Rome Capital

Italgas manages distribution in the Municipality of Rome Capital, whose concession expired on 31 

December 2009. On 26 September 2011, the call for tenders was published for the natural gas distribution 

service in the region of Rome Capital.
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Italgas submitted its bid for the contracting of the distribution service in the municipality of Rome 

Capital on 23 March 2012 and the envelopes were opened and processed in open session on Monday, 26 

March 2012. Italgas was the only bidder.

After these procedural steps had been taken, Italgas was called by the Municipality of Rome Capital on 18 

July 2012 to the open session in which the outcome of the assessment by the adjudicating commission 

of the technical tender submitted by the Company was read out. The envelope containing the financial 

tender was then opened and the relative list was drafted.

During the session, the adjudicating commission declared that:

- at the outcome of the examination of the documentation relating to the technical offer, Italgas 

obtained the maximum score set for the call for tenders;

- the financial tender met the requirements stipulated for the call for tenders.

Based on these premises, the adjudicating commission declared that Italgas was the provisional winner 

of the contract; the Company is waiting to receive the relative measure.

Regulation

Resolution 2 February 28/2012/R/gas – “Review and adjustment of the tariff regulation of the metering 

service on the natural gas distribution networks and of the directives for the commissioning of gas metering 

groups, pursuant to the resolution of the Electricity and Gas Authority of 22 October 2008, ARG/gas 155/08”.

With this resolution, published on 3 February 2012, as supplemented and amended by Resolution 18 

May 193/2012/R/gas (“Urgent amendments to the resolution of the Electricity and Gas Authority of 2 

February 2012, 28/2012/R/gas and launch of the process for review of measures relating to standard costs 

for the commissioning of gas meters”, published on 18 May 2012) and by Resolution 14 June 246/2012/R/

gas (“Amendments to the resolution of the Electricity and Gas Authority of 2 February 2012, 28/2012/R/

gas, pursuant to the process launched by Resolution 193/2012/R/gas of the Authority, for the review of 

measures relating to standard costs of gas meters in the area of distribution”, published on 15 June 2012), 

the Authority revised and updated the tariff regulations for the metering service for the period 2013-

2016 and amended the obligations set out in Resolution ARG/gas 155/08 for the introduction of remote 

reading/monitoring of gas meters.

The Authority introduced measures for calculating tariffs for metering services using smart metering 

systems for the period 2013-2016.

New investments relating to groups of electronic metering locations will be assessed on the basis of 

standard costs, supplemented by an incentive mechanism of profit and loss-sharing to intercept any 

deviations in the costs actually sustained by operators.

Furthermore, from 2013:

• the tariff component covering the operating costs of installing and maintaining metering groups will be 

differentiated through the definition of a parametric tariff component to cover extra costs connected 

to the extension of obligations to check converters and a basic tariff component to be applied to all 

redelivery points;

• costs relating to the remote reading/management systems will be covered by two separate components 

of the tariff in question, respectively to cover centralised costs for the remote reading/management 

system and to cover the costs of the concentrators;

• coverage of residual amortisation and depreciation will be recognised in the event of early disposal of 

the meters, carried out only in compliance with the provisions of the Authority, and not in cases where 

it is a consequence of a free corporate choice, or due to time limit on the metric stamp, pursuant to 

Article 30, paragraph 21, of the “Development” Law 99 of 23 July 2009.

Snam Directors' Report  / Natural gas distribution 
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judgement 2521/2012 of the Council of State

With Judgement 2521/2012, the Council of State issued a definitive ruling on the appeal submitted by 

the Authority and by certain operators against the judgements of the Lombardy district court, which had 

censored some points of the Gas Distribution Tariff Regulation (Annex A of Resolution 159/08).

With regard to the points subject to censorship by the Lombardy district court, the judgement in 

summary confirmed:

• the illegitimacy of applying the gradual increase principle to update net capital invested based on a 

criterion applied at national level;

• the illegitimacy of a constant productivity recovery value (X factor) during the regulatory period.

To comply with the Council of State judgement, the Authority:

• launched a process, with Resolution 14 June 2012 247/2012/R/gas, to adopt amendments to the 

regulation of tariffs for gas distribution and metering services for the regulatory period 2009-2012;

• with Consultation Document 248/2012/R/gas of 14 June 2012, explained its own guidelines for 

defining procedures for calculating the programmed productivity recovery rate (X factor) to be applied 

in regulatory period 2009-2012. The Authority also specified that it would recalculate the tariffs in 

question for the years 2009 and 2010; the tariffs for 2011 and 2012 will be defined by October, in 

good time to determine the equalisation balances for 2011.

Decree law 83 of 22 june 2012 – Urgent measures for national growth

Decree Law 83 of 22 June 2012 was published in the Official Gazette of 26 June 2012, relating to 

“Urgent measures for national growth”, Article 37 of which (“Rules of natural gas distribution tender 

procedures”) clarifies the parties that are permitted to take part in tenders for regional areas. Specifically, 

it stipulates that parties already holding gas distribution mandates or concessions may take part in 

first tender procedures for regional areas, following the transition period, across the entire country and 

without regional limitations. Parties directly mandated only for local public services that are “different” 

from natural gas distribution are also permitted to take part.

Snam Directors' Report  / Natural gas distribution 
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FINANCIAl REvIEw 

Income statement

Financial year First half

2011 (€ million) 2011 2012 Change % change

3,539 Core business revenue 1,744 1,791 47 2.7

66 Other revenue and income 18 72 54  

3,605 Total revenue 1,762 1,863 101 5.7

3,245 Total revenue net of the effects of IFRIC 12 (*) 1,594 1,716 122 7.7

(993) Operating costs (462) (505) (43) 9.3

(633) Operating costs net of the effects of IFRIC 12 (*) (294) (358) (64) 21.8

2,612 EBITDA 1,300 1,358 58 4.5

(654) Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses (314) (345) (31) 9.9

1,958 EBIT 986 1,013 27 2.7

(313) Net financial expense (145) (167) (22) 15.2

51 Income (expense) from equity investments 28 24 (4) (14.3)

1,696 Profit before taxes 869 870 1 0.1

(906) Income taxes (293) (362) (69) 23.5

790 Net profit (**) 576 508 (68) (11.8)

978 Adjusted net profit 576 508 (68) (11.8)

(*) The application of international accounting standard IFRIC 12 “Agreements for service concession arrangements”, in force from 1 January 2010, has not had any effect on the consolidated 
results, except for the recording, in equal measure, of revenue and costs related to the construction and upgrading of distribution infrastructure (€168 million and €147 million, respectively, 
in the first half of 2011 and first half of 2012).

(**) Net profit is attributable to Snam.

Net profit

Net profit for the first half of 2012 came in at €508 million, down €68 million, or 11.8%, on the first 

half of 2011. The decrease was due to higher income tax (-€69 million) resulting from higher fiscal 

charges due to application of additional IRES (the “Robin Hood Tax”, in force from 13 August 2011) to 

the natural gas transportation and distribution segments (-€76 million, including €81 million in higher 

current taxes and €5 million in lower deferred taxes). An increase in net financial expense (-€22 million) 

also contributed to the decrease, mainly due to the rise in the average cost of debt for the period (3.23%, 

compared with 3.0% in the first half of 2011) and higher average debt in the period. 
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ANAlYSIS OF INCOmE STATEmENT ITEmS

Total revenue

Core business revenue recorded in the first half of 2012 (€1,791 million) increased by €47 million, 

or 2.7%, compared with the first half of 2011, and by €68 million, or 4.3%, excluding the effects of the 

application of IFRIC 12. The increase was due to higher regulated revenue across all the main business 

segments.

Revenue from the transportation segment8 (€961 million) mainly relates to amounts paid for natural 

gas transportation services (€954 million) and decreased slightly, by €9 million, compared with the 

first half of 2011. The increase in transportation revenue (+€19 million) was partly absorbed by lower 

revenue arising from the recharging to Group companies of costs sustained for services rendered until 31 

December 2011 by Snam Rete Gas (-€29 million). Note that, from 1 January 2012, with the entry into 

force of the Group’s new ownership structure, these services are carried out by parent company Snam 

and, therefore, the revenue and relative costs arising from management of these activities are attributed 

to the “Corporate” segment.

Revenue from the regasification segment totalled €17 million, unchanged from the first half of 2011. 

This concerns LNG regasification revenue (€11 million) and the chargeback of the transportation service 

provided by Snam Rete Gas (€6 million).

Storage revenue of €220 million mainly consists of payment for storage services, of which €184 million 

and €31 million relate to modulation storage and strategic storage respectively.

Revenue from the distribution segment of €619 million mainly relates to payment for the natural gas 

distribution service (€454 million) and revenue generated during the construction and upgrading of 

distribution infrastructure used to provide the service (€147 million).

Financial year First half

2011 (€ million) 2011 2012 Change % change

3,539 Core business revenue 1,744 1,791 47 2.7

Business segments     

1,945 Transportation 970 961 (9) (0.9)

34 Regasification 17 17   

372 Storage 192 220 28 14.6

1,297 Distribution 614 619 5 0.8

360 - of which effects of IFRIC 12 168 147 (21) (12.5)

Corporate  80 80  

(109) Consolidation adjustments (49) (106) (57)  

66 Other revenue and income 18 72 54  

3,605 Total revenue 1,762 1,863 101 5.7

8   Core business revenue by business segment is reported before consolidation adjustments.
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Total revenue – Regulated and non-regulated activities  

Financial year First half

2011 (€ million) 2011 2012 Change % change

3,522 Regulated business revenue 1,730 1,827 97 5.6

1,870 Transportation 935 1,000 65 7.0

23 Regasification 12 11 (1) (8.3)

338 Storage  175 195 20 11.4

1,291 Distribution 608 621 13 2.1

360 - of which effects of IFRIC 12 168 147 (21) (12.5)

83 Revenue from non-regulated activities 32 36 4 12.5

3,605 1,762 1,863 101 5.7

9 This includes revenue from the balancing business, operational from 1 December 2011 pursuant to Resolution ARG/gas 45/11 of 
the Electricity and Gas Authority. Revenue refers to sales of natural gas carried out for the purposes of balancing the gas system 
and corresponds to operating costs connected to withdrawals of gas from storage

Regulated business revenue (€1,827 million, net of consolidation adjustments) relates to transportation9 

(€1,000 million), distribution (€621 million), storage (€195 million) and regasification (€11 million).

Revenue from non-regulated activities (€36 million, net of consolidation adjustments) mainly 

comprises: (i) capital gains from asset disposals (€6 million); (ii) income from rental and maintenance of 

fibre optic telecommunication cables (€5 million); (iii) income from property investments (€2 million); 

and (iv) other income from miscellaneous operations (€7 million).

Operating costs  

Financial year First half

2011 (€ million) 2011 2012 Change % change

Business segments

387 Transportation 176 198 22 12.5

23 Regasification 12 14 2 16.7

64 Storage 29 30 1 3.4

633 Distribution 296 296   

360 - of which effects of IFRIC 12 168 147 (21) (12.5)

Corporate  75 75  

(114) Consolidation adjustments (51) (108) (57)  

993 462 505 43 9.3
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Operating costs – Regulated and non-regulated activities 

Financial year First half

2011 (€ million) 2011 2012 Change % change

967 Regulated business costs 449 479 30 6.7

456 Controllable fixed costs 216 230 14 6.5

18 Variable costs 8 54 46  

493 Other costs 225 195 (30) (13.3)

360 - of which effects of IFRIC 12 168 147 (21) (12.5)

26 Non-regulated business costs 13 26 13 100.0

993 462 505 43 9.3

Operating costs (€505 million) increased by €43 million, or 9.3%, compared with the first half of 2011. 

Excluding the effects of IFRIC 12, operating costs increased by €64 million, or 21.8%, compared with the 

first half of 2011. The increase mainly reflected costs arising from the balancing business carried out by 

Snam Rete Gas S.p.A. and increased net allocations to provisions for risks and charges.

The following table shows the workforce in service at 30 June 2012 (6,056 people) by business segment 

and professional status.

Financial year First half

2011 (number) 2011 2012 Change % change

Business segments

2,755 Transportation 2,587 1,979 (608) (23.5)

74 Regasification 69 75 6 8.7

278 Storage 283 295 12 4.2

3,005 Distribution 3,078 3,037 (41) (1.3)

Corporate  670 670  

6,112 6,017 6,056 39 0.6

Financial year First half

2011 (number) 2011 2012 Change % change

Professional status

118 Executives 116 115 (1) (0.9)

544 Managers 505 551 46 9.1

3,277 Office workers 3,186 3,250 64 2.0

2,173 Manual workers 2,210 2,140 (70) (3.2)

6,112 6,017 6,056 39 0.6

The increase of 39 units in the number of personnel in service compared with the first half of 2011 

was mainly due to: (i) acquisitions of business units from Eni, specifically the Eni Adfin unit active in 

accounting and administration and the Eni unit active in ICT services; and (ii) hiring of personnel on the 

market. These factors were partly absorbed by personnel departures.     
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Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses 

Financial year First half

2011 (€ million) 2011 2012 Change % change

663 Amortisation and depreciation 322 345 23 7.1

Business segments     

435 Transportation 214 224 10 4.7

5 Regasification 2 2   

56 Storage 25 31 6 24.0

167 Distribution 81 87 6 7.4

Corporate  1   

(9) Impairment losses (Recovery of value) (8)  8 (100.0)

654 314 345 31 9.9

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses (€345 million) increased by €31 million compared 

with the first half of 2011, due to: (i) increased amortisation and depreciation (+€23 million) registered 

across all the key business segments, due to the entry into service of new infrastructure; (ii) recovery of 

value, in the first half of 2011, on some of the assets that had been impaired during 2010 (+€8 million).

EBIT

Financial year First half

2011 (€ million) 2011 2012 Change % change

Business segments

1,137 Transportation 588 589 1 0.2

7 Regasification 4 2 (2) (50.0)

255 Storage 139 159 20 14.4

559 Distribution 255 259 4 1.6

Corporate  4 4  

1,958 986 1,013 27 2.7

EBIT came in at €1,013 million in the first half of 2012, up €27 million, or 2.7%, on the first half of 

2011. The increase in EBIT mainly reflected the performance achieved by the natural gas storage segment 

(+€20 million, or +14.4%) and the natural gas distribution segment (+€4 million, or +1.6%). EBIT 

generated by natural gas transportation (+€1 million, or +0.2%) was largely unchanged compared with 

the first half of 2011.

Analysis of EBIT by business segment is provided in the section “Trends in the segments of operation” in 

this Report.
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Net financial expense

Financial year First half

2011 (€ million) 2011 2012 Change % change

262 Financial expense related to net financial debt 118 134 16 13.6

262 - Charges on short- and long-term financial debt 118 134 16 13.6

69 losses (Gains) on derivative contracts 40 43 3 7.5

69 - Difference in interest accrued in the period 40 43 3 7.5

19 Other net financial expense 7 7   

12 - Accretion discount 5 7 2 40.0

7 - Other net financial (income) expense 2  (2) (100.0)

(37) Financial expense capitalised (20) (17) 3 (15.0)

313 145 167 22 15.2

Net financial expense (€167 million) rose by €22 million compared with the first half of 2011 due to 

the higher average cost of borrowing, which increased from 3.0% in the first half of 2011 to 3.23% in the 

corresponding period of 2012, and to higher average debt for the period.

Financial expense of €17 million was capitalised in the first half of 2012, compared to €20 million in 

the first half of 2011.

Income from equity investments

Financial year First half

2011 (€ million) 2011 2012 Change % change

45 Equity method valuation effect 28 24 (4) (14.3)

4 Capital gains from sale of equity investments     

2 Net other income (expense)     

51 28 24 (4) (14.3)

Income from equity investments (€24 million) concerns the portion of net profit for the period of 

equity-accounted investments in the natural gas distribution sector. These mainly comprise associates 

Azienda Energia e Servizi Torino S.p.A. (€15 million; €16 million in the first half of 2011) and Toscana 

Energia S.p.A. (€8 million; €10 million in the first half of 2011).
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Income taxes

Financial year First half

2011 (€ million) 2011 2012 Change % change

786 Current taxes 368 395 27 7.3

(Prepaid) deferred taxes     

(79) Deferred taxes (30) (37) (7) 23.3

11 Prepaid taxes (45) 4 49

(68)  (75) (33) 42 (56.0)

188 Deferred tax adjustment at 31 December 2010 (special item)     

53.4 Tax rate (%) 33.7 41.6 7.9  

906  293 362 69 23.5

Income tax (€362 million) increased by €69 million, due mainly to higher charges arising from the application 

of additional IRES (“Robin Hood Tax”) to the natural gas transportation and distribution segments (€76 million, 

including €81 million in higher current taxes and €5 million in lower deferred taxes).

The introduction of the Robin Hood Tax has led to a significant increase in the consolidated tax rate, 

which stands at 41.6% (33.7% in the first half of 2011).
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REClASSIFIED CONSOlIDATED BAlANCE SHEET

The reclassified consolidated balance sheet combines the assets and liabilities of the compulsory format 

included in the annual report and the half-year report based on how the business operates, usually split 

into the three basic functions of investment, operations and financing.

Management believes that this format presents useful additional information for investors as it allows 

identification of the sources of financing (equity and third-party funds) and the application of such funds 

for fixed and working capital.

The reclassified consolidated balance sheet format is used by management to calculate the key leverage 

and profitability (ROI and ROE) ratios.

REClASSIFIED CONSOlIDATED BAlANCE SHEET (*)

(€ million) 31.12.2011 30.06.2012 Change 

Fixed capital 18,778 19,185 407

Property, plant and equipment  14,053 14,234 181

Compulsory inventories 405 405  

Intangible assets 4,444 4,493 49

Equity investments 319 310 (9)

Financial receivables held for operations 2 2  

Net payables for investments (445) (259) 186

Net working capital  (1,698) (1,560) 138

Provisions for employee benefits (107) (108) (1)

Assets held for sale and directly related liabilities 16 12 (4)

NET INvESTED CAPITAl 16,989 17,529 540

Shareholders’ equity (including minority interests)    

- attributable to Snam 5,791 5,794 3

- attributable to minority interests 1 1  

 5,792 5,795 3

Net financial debt 11,197 11,734 537

COvERAGE 16,989 17,529 540

(*)    For the reconciliation of the reclassified consolidated balance sheets with the compulsory format, please see the paragraph “Reconciliation of the reclassified consolidated financial statements 
with the compulsory formats” below.
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Fixed capital (€19,185 million) rose by €407 million compared with 31 December 2011, due essentially 

to the reduction in net payables for investments (+€186 million), related mainly to payment trends, and 

to the increase in property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (+€230 million).

Changes in property, plant and equipment (€181 million) and intangible assets (+€49 million) are 

analysed below:

(€ million)
Property, plant 

 and equipment
Activity 

assets
Total

Balance at 31 December 2011 14,053 4,444 18,497

Investments 356 168 524

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses (255) (90) (345)

Transfers, eliminations and divestments (3) (24) (27)

Other changes 83 (5) 78

Balance at 30 june 2012 14,234 4,493 18,727

Other changes (+€78 million) relate essentially to: (i) the effect of adjustment of the present value of 

disbursements for estimated charges for the dismantling and restoration of storage sites (+€63 million), 

mainly due to the reduction in expected discount rates; and (ii) the purchase of business units (+€31 

million) in the distribution segment. These factors were partially offset by contribution collections for 

the period (€38 million).

Equity investments 

The equity investments item (€310 million) includes the valuation of equity investments using the 

equity method and refers in particular to the companies Toscana Energia S.p.A. (€153 million), Azienda 

Energia e Servizi Torino S.p.A. (€104 million) and ACAM Gas S.p.A. (€47 million).

Net working capital

(€ million) 31.12.2011 30.06.2012 Change 

Trade receivables 1,367 1,798 431

Inventories 235 240 5

Tax receivables 47 124 77

Other assets 133 231 98

Deferred tax liabilities (901) (851) 50

Trade payables (556) (777) (221)

Provisions for risks and charges (527) (614) (87)

Prepaid income from regulated activities (358) (368) (10)

Derivatives (266) (324) (58)

Tax payables (230) (315) (85)

Other liabilities (642) (704) (62)

(1,698) (1,560) 138

Net working capital (-€1,560 million) increased by €138 million compared with the previous year, owing 

mainly to: (i) an increase in trade receivables (+€431 million) relating to the natural gas transportation 
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segment (+€483 million), due mainly to receivables arising from the balancing service10, partly offset by 

a decrease in receivables in the distribution segment (-€91 million) due mainly to the weather; and (ii) 

an increase in other assets (€98 million), due mainly to increased receivables in respect of the Electricity 

Equalisation Fund relating to natural gas distribution (+€83 million) and to greater deferred charges11 

owed by parent company Snam S.p.A. to its financing banks for debt refinancing (+€35 million).

These factors were partly offset by: (i) an increase in trade payables (-€221 million), primarily due to the 

natural gas transportation segment (-€211 million), due mainly to payables arising from the balancing 

service; (ii) the increase in provisions for risks and charges (-€87 million), due mainly to the change in 

estimated charges for dismantling and restoring storage sites (-€63 million) owing to lower expected 

discount rates; (iii) an increase in other liabilities (-€62 million), mainly due to effects arising from the 

gas paid in kind by users of the natural gas transportation service (-€31 million) and advance payments 

received for the disposal of natural gas distribution plants (-€20 million); and (iv) the decrease in the 

market value of derivative financial instruments (-€58 million) mainly due to the expected reduction in 

market interest rates.

Assets held for sale and directly related liabilities

Assets held for sale and directly related liabilities of €12 million were down €4 million compared with 

31 December 2011. The change was principally due to: (i) the reclassification of net book value (-€16 

million, excluding environmental provisions relating to charges for reclamation) to the items “Property, 

plant and equipment” (-€25 million) and “Provisions for risks and charges” (+€9 million); (ii) the 

reclassification of the net book value (+€10 million) of natural gas distribution plants in the region of 

Comunità Collinare del Friuli, for which was signed, with effect from 1 July 2012, a contract of sale to the 

successor contractor that won the call for tenders, pursuant to Legislative Decree 164/2000.

10 With effect from 1 December 2011, natural gas balancing activities became operational pursuant to Resolution ARG/gas 45/11 
of the Electricity and Gas Authority, which made Snam Rete Gas, as the major transmission system operator (TSO), responsible 
for this service. This role gives Snam Rete Gas an obligation to acquire, according to criteria of financial merit, the resources 
necessary to guarantee the safe and efficient movement of gas from entry points to withdrawal points, in order to maintain the 
constant equilibrium of the network, procure the necessary storage resources for covering imbalances for individual users, and 
adjust the relevant income statement entries. Note that the current regulations contain specific clauses to ensure the neutrality 
of the Head of Balancing. For further information, see Note 4, “Trade receivables and other receivables”, to the condensed 
interim consolidated financial statements.

11 Up-front fees and substitute tax are to be regarded as “transaction costs” pursuant to IAS 39; the relative charges are spread over 
the (expected) life of the financial instrument.
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Statement of comprehensive income

(€ million) First half 2011 First half 2012

Net profit 576 508

Other components of comprehensive income   

Change in fair value of cash flow hedge derivatives (effective share) 6 (54)

Tax effects of the other components of comprehensive income (1) 17

Total other components of comprehensive income, net of tax effect 5 (37)

Total comprehensive income 581 471

attributable to:   

 - Snam 581 471

 - Minority shareholders   

581 471

Shareholders’ equity

(€ million)

Shareholders’ equity at 31 December 2011  5,792

Increases owing to:   

- Comprehensive income for 2012 471  

- Other changes 5  

  476

Decreases owing to:   

- Distribution of balance of 2011 dividend (473)  

  (473)

Shareholders’ equity including minority interests at 30 june 2012 5,795

attributable to:  

- Snam  5,794

- Minority shareholders  1

 5,795

Other changes (+€5 million) relate to asset equalisation in favour of Snam under price adjustment 

mechanisms set out in Eni’s purchase agreement for Italgas. Specifically, the equalisation relates to 

estimated liabilities already existing at the date of completion of the Italgas purchase agreement.

At 30 June 2012, Snam had a total of 192,553,051 treasury shares (unchanged from 31 December 2011), 

equivalent to 5.39% of its share capital. Their market value at 30 June 2012 was €678 million12. At this 

date, 3,003,351 shares were allocated to the 2005, 2006, 2007 and 2008 stock option plans for a book 

value of €12,384,245.

12 Calculated by multiplying the number of treasury shares by the period-end official price of €3.52 per share.
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On 4 June 2012, the Board of Directors of Snam S.p.A. convened the Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting 

for 30 and 31 July and 1 August 2012, in first, second and third call respectively, to resolve upon the 

proposed cancellation of treasury shares in the portfolio, after elimination of the par value of the shares in 

issue and consequent amendments to the Articles of Association.

The Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting held on 30 July approved the Board of Directors’ proposals.

Net financial debt  

(€ million) 31.12.2011 30.06.2012 Change

Financial liabilities 11,199 11,750 551

Short-term financial liabilities 2,787 3,044 257

Current share of long-term financial liabilities 1,612 406 (1,206)

Long-term financial liabilities 6,800 8,300 1,500

Financial receivables and cash and cash equivalents (2) (16) (14)

Cash and cash equivalents (2) (16) (14)

11,197 11,734 537

Net financial debt at 30 June 2012 amounted to €11,734 million (€11,197 at 31 December 2011). 

The net cash flow from operations (€614 million) allowed us to cover almost entirely the financial 

requirements associated with net investments for the period of €678 million. The increase in net financial 

debt, following the payment of the balance of the 2011 dividend to shareholders of €473 million, was 

€537 million.

Long-term financial liabilities of €8,300 million make up approximately 71% of financial debt (61% at 

31 December 2011) and have an average duration of 3.7 years.

The breakdown of debt by type of interest rate at 30 June 2012 is as follows:

(€ million) 31.12.2011 % 30.06.2012 % Change

Floating rate 2,587               23 4,344               37 1,757

Fixed rate 8,612               77 7,406               63 (1,206)

11,199             100 11,750             100 551

Financial liabilities reflect payables to Eni (€10,238 million, accounting for 87%) and payables to third-

party lenders (€1,512 million, amounting to 13%) and are entirely denominated in euro.

Specifically, payables to other lenders relate to the disbursement of two tranches of a floating-rate 

revolving credit line falling due on 31 July 2016, for respective amounts of €1,000 million and €500 

million. The loan of €500 million was converted into a fixed-rate loan via an existing IRS (interest rate 

swap) contract. This transaction is part of the general debt refinancing plan established by Snam13.

Floating-rate liabilities (€4,344 million) show an increase of €1,757 million due to the disbursement of 

a tranche of the credit line (+€1,000 million) and the change in the floating-rate debt contracted with 

Eni (+€757 million).  

13   More information on Snam’s debt refinancing operation is provided on page 8 of this Report.
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Fixed-rate financial liabilities (€7,406 million) show a decrease of €1,206 million, chiefly due to the net 

balance between repayments in the period (-€1,700 million) of existing loans with parent company Eni 

falling due, and the disbursement of a tranche of the credit line (+€500 million).

Fixed-rate financial liabilities at 30 June 2012 include 13 loans at a floating rate converted into fixed-rate 

loans through IRSs for an overall notional amount of €5,735 million.

There were no breaches of loan agreements at the reporting date.

Covenants

Information on covenants in relation to financial debt at 30 June 2012 is provided in Note 16 - “Long-

term financial liabilities and short-term portion of long-term liabilities” - of the Notes to the condensed 

interim consolidated financial statements.
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REClASSIFIED CONSOlIDATED STATEmENT OF CASH FlOwS

The reclassified consolidated statement of cash flows set out below summarises the legally required 

format. It shows the connection between the opening and closing cash and cash equivalents and the 

change in net financial debt during the period. The two statements are reconciled through the free cash 

flow, i.e. the cash surplus or deficit left over after servicing capital expenditure. The free cash flow closes 

either: (i) with the change in cash for the period, after adding/deducting all cash flows related to financial 

liabilities/assets (taking out/repaying financial receivables/payables) and equity (payment of dividends/

capital injections); or (ii) with the change in net financial debt for the period, after adding/deducting the 

debt flows related to equity (payment of dividends/capital injections).

REClASSIFIED CONSOlIDATED STATEmENT OF CASH FlOwS (*)

(€ million) First half 2011 First half 2012

Net profit 576 508

Adjusted by:   

- Amortisation, depreciation and other non-monetary components 279 322

- Net capital losses on asset sales and eliminations 6  

- Interest and income taxes 432 521

Change in working capital due to operating activities 16 (189)

Dividends, interest and income taxes collected (paid) (435) (548)

Net cash flows from operating activities 874 614

Investments (658) (493)

Change in consolidation scope and business units 9 (26)

Divestments 5 27

Other changes relating to investment activities (152) (186)

Free cash flow 78 (64)

Changes in short- and long-term financial debt    385 551

Equity cash flows (468) (473)

(5) 14

(*)    For the reconciliation of the reclassified consolidated statement of cash flows with the compulsory formats, please see the paragraph “Reconciliation of the reclassified consolidated financial 
statements with the compulsory formats” below.

CHANGE IN NET FINANCIAl DEBT

(€ million) First half 2011 First half 2012

Free cash flow 78 (64) 

Equity cash flows (468) (473) 

Change in net financial debt (390) (537) 
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Reconciliation of the reclassified consolidated financial statements with the compulsory formats

REClASSIFIED CONSOlIDATED BAlANCE SHEET 

(€ million)      

Reclassified consolidated balance sheet items  31.12.2011 30.06.2012

(Where not expressly stated, the component is taken directly from 
the legally required format)

Reference to notes to 
consolidated financial 

statements

Partial amount 
from legally 

required format

Amount from 
reclassified 

format

Partial amount 
from legally 

required format

Amount from 
reclassified 

format

Fixed capital
Property, plant and equipment 14,053 14,234
Compulsory inventories 405 405
Intangible assets 4.444 4,493
Equity investments 319 310
Financial receivables held for operations (see Note 4) 2 2
Net payables for investments, consisting of: (445) (259)
- Payables for investments (see Note 13) (486) (308)
- Receivables for investments/divestments (see Note 4) 41 49
Total fixed capital 18,778 19,185

Net working capital
Trade receivables (see Note 4) 1,367 1,798
Inventories 235 240
Tax receivables, consisting of: 47 124
- Current income tax assets 3 115
- Other current tax assets 5 5
- IRES receivables for the national tax consolidation scheme (see Note 4) 35 3
- Group VAT credit (see Note 4) 4 1
Trade payables (see Note 13) (556) (777)
Tax payables, consisting of: (230) (315)
- Current income tax liabilities (175) (101)
- Other current tax liabilities (16) (13)
- IRES payables for national tax consolidation scheme (see Note 13) (19) (176)
- Group VAT payables (see Note 13) (20) (25)
Deferred tax liabilities (901) (851)
Provisions for risks and charges (527) (614)
Derivatives (see Notes 15,19) (266) (324)
Other assets, consisting of: 133 231
- Other receivables (see Note 4) 96 173
- Other current assets (see Note 6) 22 34
- Other non-current assets (see Note 10) 15 24
Accruals and deferrals from regulated activities, consisting of: (358) (368)
- Accrued income from regulated activities (see Notes 6,10) 77 88
- Prepaid income from regulated activities (see Notes 15,19) (435) (456)
Other liabilities, consisting of: (642) (704)
- Other payables (see Note 13) (263) (281)
- Other current liabilities (see Note 15) (4) (6)
- Other non-current liabilities (see Note 19) (375) (417)
Total net working capital (1,698) (1,560)
Provisions for employee benefits (107) (108)

"Assets held for sale 
and directly related liabilities consisting of:" 16 12
- Assets held for sale (see Note 11) 25 12
- Liabilities directly associated with assets held for sale (see Note 11) (9)
NET INvESTED CAPITAl  16,989 17,529
Shareholders' equity including minority interests  5,792 5,795
Net financial debt
Financial liabilities, consisting of:  11,199 11,750
- Long-term financial liabilities  6,800 8,300
- Current share of long-term financial liabilities  1,612 406
- Short-term financial liabilities  2,787 3,044
Financial receivables, cash and cash equivalents, consisting of: (2) (16)
- Other financial assets 
- Cash and cash equivalents (2) (16)
Total net financial debt  11,197 11,734
COvERAGE  16,989 17,529
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CONSOlIDATED STATEmENT OF CASH FlOwS 

(€ million) First half 2011 First half 2012

Items from the reclassified statement of cash flows and reconciliation with the 
legally required format

Partial amount 
from legally 

required format

Amount from 
reclassified 

format

Partial amount 
from legally 

required format

Amount from 
reclassified 

format

Net profit 576 508

Adjusted by:

Amortisation, depreciation and other non-monetary components: 279 322

- Amortisation and depreciation 322 345

- Net impairment losses on property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (8)

- Equity method valuation effect (28) (24)

- Change in provisions for employee benefits 1

- Other changes (7)

Net capital losses on asset sales and eliminations 6

Interest, income taxes and other changes: 432 521

- Interest income (1) (2)

- Interest expense 140 161

- Income taxes 293 362

Changes in working capital due to operating activities: 16 (189)

- Inventories (7) 35

- Trade receivables (153) (431)

- Trade payables (86) 221

- Change in provisions for risks and charges 182 12

- Other assets and liabilities 80 (26)

Dividends, interest and income taxes collected (paid): (435) (548)

- Dividends collected 29 2

- Interest collected 1 3

- Interest paid (140) (161)

- Income taxes (paid) received (325) (392)

Net cash flows from operating activities 874 614

Investments: (658) (493)

- Property, plant and equipment (492) (351) 

- Intangible assets (166) (142)

Investments in companies joining the scope of consolidation and business units: 9 (26)

Divestments: 5 27

- Property, plant and equipment 5 27

Other changes relating to investment activities: (152) (186)

- Change in net payables for investments (152) (186)

Free cash flow 78 (64)

Change in financial payables: 385 551

- Taking on long-term financial debt 422 1.521

- Repaying long-term financial debt (320) (1,227)

- Increase (decrease) in short-term financial debt 283 257

Equity cash flows (468) (473)

Net cash flow for the period (5) 14
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ElEmENTS OF RISK AND UNCERTAINTY 

The Board of Directors of Snam S.p.A., pursuant to the Code of Corporate Governance for Listed Companies 

and in line with best practice in this area, has set up the Control and Risk Committee (formerly the 

Internal Control Committee), which exclusively comprises non-executive, independent directors. This 

committee, with the assistance of the Board of Directors, is responsible for the internal control and risk 

management system. It aims to establish guidelines for this system, periodically checking their adequacy 

and effectiveness, and to ensure that the main corporate risks are identified and appropriately managed.

The main corporate risks identified, monitored and, where specified below, managed by Snam are as 

follows: (i) market risk arising from exposure to fluctuations in interest rates and in the price of natural 

gas; (ii) credit risk arising from the possible default of a counterparty; (iii) liquidity risk arising from 

insufficient financial resources to meet short-term commitments; (iv) operational risk; and (v) risks 

specific to the business segments in which the group operates.

market risk 

Interest rate risk

Fluctuations in interest rates affect the market value of the company’s financial assets and liabilities 

and its net financial expense. Snam aims to minimise interest rate risk while pursuing financial structure 

objectives laid down in its business plans.

The interest rates of some of Snam’s loans are indexed to benchmark rates, notably the Europe Interbank 

Offered Rate (Euribor). In order to limit interest rate risk, Snam uses derivative financial instruments – 

notably interest rate swaps (IRSs) – to manage the balance between fixed-rate and floating-rate debt. 

The IRSs implemented in this case convert floating-rate debt into fixed-rate debt. The fair value of such 

interest-rate derivatives is calculated systematically on the basis of market prices provided by the major 

info providers. Snam does not have derivative contracts held for trading or speculative purposes.

As described in the paragraph “Liquidity risk”, Snam is mainly financed by its parent company, Eni S.p.A. 

There is no guarantee that, when Eni S.p.A. cedes control, Snam will be able to obtain loans and short- 

and medium-to-long-term financing from other sources on the same terms as its existing agreements.

Natural gas price risk

Up to the end of the second regulatory period on 31 December 2009, the transportation costs incurred 

for the acquisition of gas needed to operate the compression stations were included in overall operating 

costs and therefore updated using the price-cap mechanism14. As of the start of the third regulatory 

period on 1 January 2010, the Electricity and Gas Authority, enacting the new tariff criteria laid down by 

Resolution ARG/gas 184/09, has defined methods for payment in kind, by service users to transporters, 

of gas volumes to cover fuel gas, network losses and Unaccounted-For Gas, owed as a percentage of the 

volumes respectively injected into and extracted from the transportation network. As a result of these 

measures, and taking into account the mechanism for allocating gas to service users, change in the price 

of natural gas for hedging fuel gas and network losses no longer represents a risk factor for Snam. Price 

fluctuation risk remains from excess quantities of Unaccounted-For Gas and network losses withdrawn 

vis-à-vis the quantities paid for in kind by service users.

14 Under this mechanism, core revenue components relating to operating costs, amortisation and depreciation are updated with 
financial statement figures at the start of a regulatory period, while they are updated with inflation and reduced by a productivity 
coefficient in the subsequent years..  



44

Snam Half - year Report 2012

Snam Directors' Report  / Elements of risk and uncertainty 

Credit risk

Credit risk is the company’s exposure to potential losses arising from counterparties failing to fulfil their 

obligations. Default or delayed payment may have a negative impact on the financial balance and results 

of Snam.

The group provides business services to a small number of operators in the gas sector, the largest of which 

by revenue is Eni S.p.A. The rules for client access to the services offered are established by the Electricity 

and Gas Authority and set out in the Network Codes. For each type of service, these documents explain 

the rules regulating the rights and obligations of the parties involved in providing said services, and have 

contractual conditions which minimise the risk of non-compliance by the clients. In particular, the Codes 

require guarantees to be provided to partly cover obligations where the client does not possess a credit 

rating issued by one of the leading international agencies.

It cannot be ruled out, however, that Snam may incur liabilities and/or losses due to its customers’ failure 

to perform payment obligations.

Please refer to Note 4 to the condensed interim consolidated financial statements, “Trade receivables 

and other receivables”, for a description of changes in provisions for impairment of trade receivables 

during the period.

liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that new financial resources may not be available (funding liquidity risk) or the 

company may be unable to convert assets into cash on the market (asset liquidity risk), meaning that it 

cannot meet its payment commitments. This may affect profit or loss should the company be obliged 

to incur extra costs to meet its commitments or, in extreme cases, lead to insolvency and threaten 

the company’s future as a going concern. Snam’s objective is to have a financial structure (in terms 

of leverage ratio and ratios of medium- to long-term debt and fixed-/floating-rate debt to total debt), 

which ensures an adequate level of liquidity for the Group, minimising the related opportunity cost and 

maintaining a balance between the term and composition of its debt in line with business objectives.

As part of the general framework of the Decree of the President of the Council of Ministers (DPCM) of 

25 May 2012 (Implementation of ownership unbundling between Eni and Snam), on 30 May 2012 Eni 

and CDP announced to the market that they had reached a binding preliminary agreement for the sale 

to CDP of an equity investment of 30% minus one share in the voting capital of Snam owned by Eni. 

Completion of the transaction, possible from 15 October this year, is scheduled to take place by the end 

of 2012. On 15 June 2012, Eni formalised the relative sale agreement with CDP.

In this context, and with the aim of diversifying sources of funds by broadening the investor base, the 

Board of Directors of Snam resolved on 4 June 2012 to issue one or more bond loans for placement with 

institutional investors operating in Europe, on the basis of an issue programme of Euro Medium Term Notes 

(EMTN), for a total maximum amount of €8 billion, to be issued in one or more tranches by 4 June 2013. 

Specifically, two fixed-rate bonds were issued in July for €2 billion, reserved for institutional investors.

Subsequently, on 7 June 2012, Snam signed, with a group of 11 leading national and international banks, 

a mandate for the structuring and underwriting of a pool loan of €11 billion, which will cover the 

Company’s requirements, including the refinancing of its current debt to Eni. On 24 July 2012, Snam 

signed agreements for credit lines totalling €9 billion. The amount of the credit lines was lower than the 

original €11 billion due to the placement on the capital market of bonds totalling €2 billion. 

A series of bilateral agreements have also been defined with some banks for a total amount of 

approximately €3.5 billion, of which €1.5 billion had already been released at 30 June 2012.

These agreements will provide Snam with short-term financing based primarily on bank credit, but with 

the aim of progressively meeting a target debt structure largely made up of bond loans, in line with its 

business profile and the regulatory context in which it operates.
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In support of the refinancing operation, on 13 June 2012, Snam obtained its first credit ratings from 

Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s. Credit ratings are an estimate of creditworthiness and therefore 

indicate to investors the probability of Snam being able to repay the capital invested. The rating plays a 

determining role in defining the financial charges that Snam will have to pay for debt contracted on the 

market. A downgrade in the rating would result in a higher interest rate, by increasing the spread applied. 

One of the potential factors that could lead to deterioration in creditworthiness, in addition to those 

strictly intrinsic to the business and management situation of Snam, is a downgrade in the debt rating of 

the Italian government. Snam’s ratings are currently A- with a negative outlook (A-2) from Standard and 

Poor’s and Baa1 with a stable outlook from Moody’s.

Due to the downgrade of the debt rating assigned to the Italian Republic, on 16 July 2012 Moody’s 

announced a multiple review of the ratings and/or outlooks of a broad range of Italian companies, 

including Snam. Specifically, Snam’s rating of Baa1 has been placed under review for downgrade.

Snam is currently financed entirely by its parent company, Eni S.p.A. In the case of a change of control 

at Snam by Eni S.p.A., existing agreements between the companies give Eni S.p.A. the right to extinguish 

the credit lines granted early. As the situation stands, Snam believes that cash flows deriving from 

management of the company, the action taken to refinance its debt and the current structure of its 

balance sheet and cash flows are reasonably certain to provide access to a broad spectrum of financing, 

sufficient to meet its foreseeable financial needs. However, there are no guarantees that Snam would be 

capable of obtaining loans, short- and medium-to-long-term, and financing from other sources under 

the same conditions as current ones.

Payments owed contractually on financial debts, including interest payments, as well as the timing of 

disbursements for trade and miscellaneous payables, are set out in Note 22 to the condensed interim 

consolidated financial statements, “Guarantees, commitments and risks – Liquidity risk”, which should 

be referred to.

Operational risk

Snam is required to comply with rules and regulations at EU, national, regional and local level.

The expenses associated with the actions required to fulfil its obligations constitute a significant cost 

item now and for the years ahead.

Complying with rules and regulations, and minimising operational risk, is crucial for obtaining 

authorisations and/or licences that require compliance with applicable laws on health, safety and the 

environment. Violation of current regulations may result in individual criminal and/or civil sanctions, and 

in specific cases where safety and environmental rules are violated companies may be liable on the basis 

of a European objective liability model adopted in Italy through Legislative Decree 231/01. Snam may 

incur significant costs or liabilities.

Current regulations highlight the value of organisational models aimed at preventing offences in the 

event of violation of environmental and workplace health and safety laws, specifying corporate liability.

Snam uses organisational instruments and internal regulations to establish the responsibilities and 

procedures to be adopted when designing, constructing, operating and disposing of all company assets, 

thereby ensuring compliance with laws and internal regulations on health, safety and the environment.

Snam has implemented environmental and workplace health and safety management systems based on 

the principles of its own Health, Safety, Environment and Quality Policy, which has been developed at 

the company for several years.

The documentation and application of Snam’s management systems are certified in accordance with 

international standards. More specifically, the company has received ISO 14001 certification for the 

management process relating to its pipeline network and compression stations, as well as ISO 9001 

certification for the processes it uses to meter, dispatch and define transportation capacity for natural 

gas. The Workplace Health and Safety Management System is certified in accordance with the BS OHSAS 
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18001 standard for Snam, Snam Rete Gas and Italgas. A business plan designed to obtain certification by 

the end of 2102 has been launched for Stogit and GNL.

By adopting management systems and procedures that take into account the specific characteristics of 

its business, and by continually improving and modernising its facilities, Snam ensures that it can identify, 

assess and mitigate risks as part of a cycle of continual improvement.

Snam pays the utmost attention to all its operational processes: from designing and constructing 

plants to operating and maintaining them. For the purposes of business management and operational 

control, the company uses specific techniques that are continually being updated and are developed in 

compliance with international best practice.

Snam develops and maintains technical regulations and management systems for the environment and 

workplace health and safety based on an annual cycle of planning, implementation, control, reviewing 

results and setting new objectives.

Management system control is conducted through monitoring health, safety and environment indicators, 

periodic reporting and inspections of operating sites and the registered office, which involve:

-  a technical audit, designed to ensure that the management systems are applied correctly in compliance 

with the Code of Ethics and Organisational Model 231;

-  management system checks on certification, maintenance and renovation (conducted annually by an 

external certifying body);

-  health, safety and environment checks on outsourced activities.

The findings are examined together with the results of the operating checks, providing basic information 

for planning future activities and setting new targets, in accordance with Snam principles.

Snam has adopted organisational and regulatory measures for preventing (availability, goods and services 

contracts, training, etc.) and managing any operational crises which may impact assets, people and the 

environment, identifying the actions required to limit damage.

Snam participates in international working groups which conduct benchmarking activities, draw up guidelines 

and carry out studies aimed at identifying ways in which gas transportation processes can be improved. 

In addition to the risk response, monitoring and management system, as well as to the HSE measures 

adopted across the group, Snam has taken out insurance to limit the possible negative effects on its assets 

from damage caused to third parties and to industrial property, whether onshore or offshore (Messina 

strait). This damage may occur during operations and/or investment works. The amount insured varies 

according to the type of event and is determined by current market best practice in risk assessment.

Risks connected with failing to meet infrastructure development objectives

Snam’s effective ability to develop its infrastructure is subject to many unforeseeable events linked to 

operating, economic, regulatory, authorisation and competition factors which are outside its control. 

Snam is therefore unable to guarantee that the projects to upgrade and extend its network will be 

started, be completed or lead to the expected benefits in terms of tariffs. Additionally, the development 

projects may require greater investments or longer timeframes than those originally planned, affecting 

Snam’s financial position and results.

Risks deriving from malfunctioning of plants

Managing regulated gas activities involves a number of risks of malfunctioning and unforeseeable 

service disruptions due to factors which are outside Snam’s control, such as accidents, breakdowns or 

malfunctioning of equipment or control systems, the underperformance of plants and extraordinary 

events such as explosions, fires, earthquakes, landslides or other similar events beyond Snam’s control. 

These events could also cause significant damage to persons, property or the environment.

Any service interruptions and subsequent compensation obligations could lead to a decrease in revenue 

and/or an increase in costs. Although Snam has taken out specific insurance policies to cover some of 
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these risks, the related insurance cover could be insufficient to meet all the losses incurred, compensation 

obligations or cost increases.

Risks deriving from the need to manage a significant flow of information to operate regulated 

services

The regulatory framework in which Snam operates involves continually collecting and processing 

a significant flow of information from its service clients. The information received by Snam includes, 

inter alia, capacity bookings, details of where gas is coming from and going to each day, physical and 

commercial balancing mechanisms and forecasts on demand and transportation capacity usage. This 

flow of information, managed by extensive use of IT systems, is broad and complex. Therefore, Snam 

cannot guarantee that its management will not lead to operating and planning difficulties which could 

affect its business.

Risks deriving from the seasonal nature of the business

Snam’s overall business is not affected by seasonal or cyclical factors which could have a significant 

impact on its annual or interim financial position and results. Indeed, on the basis of current tariffs, only 

a minimal part of Snam’s revenue is exposed to changes in gas demand (around 15% of natural gas 

transportation revenue and around 10% of LNG regasification revenue).

Specific risks related to the business segments in which Snam operates

Regulation

Snam operates in the regulated gas sector. The relevant directives and legal provisions issued by the 

European Union and the Italian government, and the resolutions of the Electricity and Gas Authority, may 

have a significant impact on operations, results and financial stability. More specifically, Decree Law 138 

of 13 August 2011, which was converted into Law 148 of 14 September 2011, extended the application 

of additional IRES to the natural gas transportation and distribution business segments, with a tax rise 

of 10.5% for 2011-2013 and 6.5% as of 2014. Companies are not permitted to pass on the tax rise to 

customers via tariff increases, and the Electricity and Gas Authority has been mandated to enforce this rule. 

Future changes to European Union or Italian legislative policies, which may have unforeseeable effects on 

the relevant legislative framework and, therefore, on Snam’s operations and results, cannot be ruled out.

Risks associated with the end of gas distribution concessions held by Italgas and its subsidiaries 

and associates

Risks relating to tenders for new gas distribution concessions

At 30 June 2012, Snam, through Italgas, had a portfolio of approximately 1,450 natural gas distribution 

concessions spread throughout Italy. On the basis of current regulations applicable to Snam’s concessions, 

new gas distribution contracts will be awarded not by individual municipality but exclusively by zones 

determined by the Ministerial Decrees of 19 January 2011 and 18 October 2011, and also according to 

the timeframes indicated in Annex 1 of the Ministerial Decree on bid evaluation and auction criteria, 

issued on 12 November 2011.

As the tender process unfolds, Snam may not be awarded one or more of the new concessions, or it may 

be awarded them on less favourable terms than is currently the case. This could have a negative impact 

on Snam’s operations, results, balance sheet and cash flow, notwithstanding, should the company not be 

awarded concessions for municipalities it currently manages, the reimbursement to the outgoing operator.

Risks relating to the possible request from municipalities to acquire ownership of the gas distribution 

networks and to quantifying reimbursement to the outgoing operator

With regard to gas distribution concessions where Snam, through Italgas, also owns the networks and 

plants, regulatory changes in the sector determine the legal rules of ownership and the elements required 
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to calculate the amount to be reimbursed to the outgoing operator, both in the first period, i.e. at the end 

of the transition period referred to in Article 15 of Legislative Decree 164/100 as subsequently amended, 

and in subsequent periods.

More specifically, the above-mentioned Decree on bid evaluation and auction criteria stipulates that:

• in the first period, the amount to be reimbursed to existing concession and contract holders shall be 

calculated on the basis of what has been agreed, or, where this is not possible, on the basis of criteria 

established in Royal Decree 2578 of 15 October 1925 (the “industrial value” criterion);

• in the event of a dispute over the amount to be reimbursed to the outgoing operator, the call for 

tenders reports and the winning operator pays, upon transfer of ownership of the plants, the higher 

of the estimate by the awarding local authorities and the value of the local net fixed assets, net of 

government grants for capital expenditure and private contributions relating to local assets, recognised 

by the tariff system of the Electricity and Gas Authority (RAB). Once the dispute has been resolved, any 

difference will be settled between the incoming operator and the outgoing operator;

• the incoming operator will acquire ownership of the plant by paying the outgoing operator the 

reimbursement amount, with the exception of any parts owned by the local municipality;

• in subsequent periods, the reimbursement to the outgoing operator shall be the value of local net 

fixed assets, net of government grants for capital expenditure and private contributions relating to 

local assets, calculated on the basis of criteria used by the Electricity and Gas Authority to determine 

distribution tariffs (RAB).

There is a risk that resolving the dispute with the local authorities on how to determine the reimbursement 

will lead to the amount being less than was indicated during the tender process and was actually paid to 

Snam, which could have a negative impact on the company’s results, balance sheet and cash flow.

Risks relating to gas storage concession ownership

Through Stogit, Snam holds ten gas storage concessions. Of these, eight (Alfonsine, Brugherio, 

Cortemaggiore, Minerbio, Ripalta, Sabbioncello, Sergnano and Settala) expire in December 2016, one 

(Bordolano) expires in November 2021 and the other (Fiume Treste), which was extended for a decade 

for the first time during 2011, expires in June 2022. Each concession may be extended by the Ministry of 

Economic Development no more than twice for a duration of ten years at a time, pursuant to Article 1, 

paragraph 61 of Law 239/2004. If Snam is unable to retain ownership of one or more of its concessions or 

if, at the time of the renewal, the concessions are awarded under terms less favourable than the current 

ones, there may be negative effects on the company’s operations, results, balance sheet and cash flow.

Risk relating to uncertainty about natural gas reserves

There are several uncertainties surrounding estimations of natural gas reserves in the storage fields 

where Snam operates via its subsidiaries, and therefore their future use and necessary investments. 

The accuracy of these estimations depends on a certain number of factors, assumptions and variables, 

among which some of the most important are: (a) the quality of geological, technical and economic 

data and their interpretation and evaluation; (b) projections for future usage and timeframes for the 

relevant investment; (c) the stability or otherwise of sector laws and regulations; and (d) the actual 

results of drilling and general production activity in the fields for which Snam owns a concession which 

are subsequent to the estimation date and which may cause said estimations to be raised or lowered. 

Factors other than those listed above which may influence reserve estimations are beyond Snam’s 

control, and may therefore vary over time. As a result, there may be differences between estimated 

reserves and those actually available for use, which may have negative effects on operations, results, the 

balance sheet and cash flow.
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Risks connected with certain socio-political situations in natural gas production and transit 

countries

A large part of the natural gas which travels through the transportation network of Snam does, or may, 

come from or travel through countries which present risks deriving from certain socio-political situations. 

Importing and transiting natural gas from or through such countries may present risks such as: higher 

taxes and excise duties; production, export or transportation limits; enforced contract renegotiations; 

nationalisation or renationalisation of assets; changes to national political and governing systems; 

changes to commercial policies; monetary restrictions; and loss or damage owing to the actions of rebel 

groups. If shippers are unable to access the natural gas available in these countries as a result of the 

aforementioned or similar situations or they are damaged in any other way by said situations, they may 

be unable to fulfil their contractual obligations to Snam or there may be a reduction in volumes of gas 

transported. Such events may therefore have a negative effect on operations, results, the balance sheet 

and cash flow.

Quantitative information about risks arising from financial instruments as required by IFRS 7 “Financial 

instruments: Notes to the financial statements” is provided in Note 22 to the condensed interim 

consolidated financial statements, “Guarantees, commitments and risks”.
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OUTlOOK

Gas demand  

On the basis of information currently available, natural gas demand on the Italian market at the end of 

2012 will be down slightly on 2011, mainly due to reduced consumption in the thermoelectric sector.

Investments 

The investment plan for the four-year period 2012-2015 is proceeding according to schedule, with overall 

projected expenditure of approximately €6.7 billion at consolidated level.

Efficiency 

Snam will continue to pay attention to operating efficiency in 2012 through initiatives designed to keep 

emerging costs under control, notably the reorganisation of the group which took place in 2011.
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The main post-balance sheet events are described in the “Highlights” section.   



Information on related parties
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Transactions carried out during the financial year by Snam and by companies within its scope of 

consolidation with related parties mainly involve the exchange of goods, the provision of services, and 

the provision and utilisation of financial resources, including the arrangement of derivative contracts to 

hedge interest rate risk with the ultimate parent Eni S.p.A. and its subsidiaries, as well as with Enel, a 

state-controlled company, and its subsidiaries.

These transactions are part of ordinary business activities and are generally settled at market conditions, 

i.e. the conditions which would be applied for two independent parties. All the transactions carried out 

were in the interest of the companies of the Snam Group.

Pursuant to the provisions of the relevant legislation, the Company has adopted internal procedures to 

ensure that transactions carried out by Snam or its subsidiaries with related parties are transparent and 

correct in their substance and procedure15 .

Directors and auditors declare their interests affecting the company and the group every six months, 

and/or when changes in said interests occur; they also inform the CEO (or the Chairman, in the case of 

the CEO), who in turns informs the other directors and the Board of Statutory Auditors, of individual 

transactions that the company intends to carry out and in which they have an interest.

The amounts involved in commercial, miscellaneous and financial relations with related parties, 

descriptions of the key transactions and the impact of these on the balance sheet, income statement 

and cash flows, are provided in Note 30 in the Notes to the condensed interim consolidated financial 

statements.

15 The procedure for related-party transactions, pursuant to Article 4 of Consob Regulation 17221 of 12 March 2010, as 
subsequently amended, which was approved by the Board on 30 November 2010, is available on the Company’s website at 
www.snam.it, in the Governance section.
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Disclosure required by Article 37 of Consob Regulation 16191/07

Pursuant to Article 37 of the Market Regulations, relating to controlled companies subject to the 

management and coordination of others, there are no conditions preventing the listing of Snam S.p.A. 

shares on the electronic stock exchange organised and managed by Borsa Italiana S.p.A..
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A glossary of financial, commercial and technical terms, as well as units of measurement, is available 

online at www.snam.it. The most common terms are described below

Economic and financial terms

Excise duty

Indirect tax for immediate payment, applied to the production or consumption of certain industrial 

goods (including oil products and natural gas). 

Amortisation

Process by which the cost of fixed assets is spread over a certain period to the advantage of the company, 

usually the useful life of the asset. 

Non-current assets

Balance sheet item which shows long-lasting assets, net of amortisation, depreciation and impairment 

losses. These are divided into the following categories: “Property, plant and equipment”, “Compulsory 

inventories”, “Intangible assets”, “Equity investments”, “Financial assets” and “Other non-current assets”.

Net working capital

Capital which is invested in short-term assets and indicator of a company’s short-term financial position. 

Calculated using all short-term, non-financial assets and liabilities.

Net invested capital

Net investments of an operational nature, being the sum of net working capital and fixed assets.

Cash flow

Liquid assets generated by a company over a certain period of time. Specifically, the difference between 

current inflows (mainly cash revenue) and current cash outflows (costs in the period that generated cash 

outflows).

Operating costs

Costs incurred in carrying out a company’s core business. These include: purchases, services, energy, 

consumables, personnel expense and maintenance.

Controllable fixed costs

Fixed operating costs of regulated activities, being the sum of “Total recurring personnel expense” and 

“Recurring external operating costs”.

Dividend

Payment to shareholders voted for by the Shareholders’ Meeting and proposed by the Board of Directors.

Dividend payout

Ratio between the dividend and net profit for the period, and equal to the percentage of profits paid out 

to shareholders in the form of dividends.

Net financial debt

A valid indicator of the ability to meet financial obligations. Represented by gross financial debt minus 

cash and cash equivalents, as well as other financial receivables not held for operations.
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Investments

Costs of long-term assets whose useful life does not expire over one reporting period.

Net financial expense

Net cost incurred for using third-party capital. Includes other net expense related to financial operations.

Shareholders’ equity

Total resources contributed by shareholders, plus retained profits and minus losses.

EBITDA

Used by the group in its internal (business plan) and external (to analysts and investors) presentations. Unit 

of measurement to assess the group’s operating performance, as a whole and in the individual business 

segments, in addition to EBIT. Determined by the difference between revenue and operating costs.

Core business revenue

Income from selling goods and/or providing services that are integral to the core business, including all 

recurring economic values linked to a company’s typical field of business.

Derivatives

A financial instrument is defined as a derivative when its price/yield profile derives from the price/yield 

parameters of other major instruments – known as “underlying” – such as commodities, currencies, 

interest rates, securities and share indices.

EBIT

Difference in a given period between sales and services revenues and other revenue and costs. It is 

therefore the operating result before financial revenue and costs and taxes.

Net profit

EBIT minus result from financial operations and income taxes.
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TRANSPORTATION AND REGASIFICATION

Commercial terms

Network Code

Document governing the rights and obligations of those involved in providing transportation and 

regasification services.

Regulatory period

Period of time (usually four years) for which criteria are defined for setting tariffs for transporting and 

dispatching natural gas and for regasifying liquefied natural gas. For transportation, we are currently in 

the third regulatory period, which runs from 1 January 2010 to 31 December 2013. For regasification, the 

third regulatory period runs from 1 October 2008 to 30 September 2012.

Network entry point

Each point or a localised group of physical points on the gas transportation network at which gas is 

delivered to the transporter.

Regasification Tariffs

Unit prices applied for regasification. These include capacity and commodity tariffs, related respectively to 

the required regasification capacity and to the volumes of gas actually unloaded from methane tankers.

Transportation Tariffs

Unit prices applied for transporting and dispatching natural gas. These include capacity and commodity 

tariffs related, respectively, to the required transportation capacity and to the volumes of gas actually 

injected into the network.

Technical terms

liquefied natural gas (lNG)

Natural gas essentially comprising methane liquefied by cooling at around -160°C, at atmospheric 

pressure, to make it suitable for methane tanker transportation or reservoir storage. In order to be 

injected into the transportation network, the liquid must be reconverted into a gas at regasification 

plants and brought to the operating pressure of the pipelines.
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NATURAl GAS STORAGE

Commercial terms

withdrawal phase 

Period from 1 November of one year to 31 March of the following year.

Injection phase

Period from 1 April to 31 October of the same year.

Regulatory period

Period of time (usually four years) for which criteria are defined for setting tariffs for natural gas storage 

services. The third regulatory period commenced on 1 January 2011 and will end on 31 December 2014.

Technical terms

modulation storage

Aims to respond to changing hourly, daily and seasonal demands.

mining storage

Mining storage is necessary for technical and economic reasons in order to enable optimum cultivation 

of Italy’s natural gas fields. 

Strategic storage

Aims to provide for a lack of or reduction in supplies from non-EU imports or crises in the gas system.
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NATURAl GAS DISTRIBUTION

Commercial terms

Tariff area 

The tariff area is the area used to determine distribution tariffs and consists of all communities served by the same 

distribution plant. If several local authorities collectively designate an operator to perform the distribution service, 

or declare themselves a single tariff area, the tariff area coincides with the group of municipalities served through 

several distribution plants by one or more operators.

End client

Consumer who buys gas for own use.

Network Code

Document governing the rights and obligations of those involved in providing gas distribution services.

Concession

Act by which a local authority entrusts to a company the management of a service which falls within the remit of 

said authority and for which said company assumes the operational risk.

Regulatory period

Period of time (usually four years) for which criteria are defined for setting tariffs for gas distribution services. We are 

currently in the third regulatory period, which runs from 1 January 2009 to 31 December 2012.

Redelivery point

This is the point of demarcation between the gas distribution plant and the plant owned or managed by the end 

customer at which the distribution company redelivers gas transported for supply to the end customer, and at which 

metering occurs.

Gas distribution service

Service of transporting natural gas through networks of local pipelines from one or more delivery points to redelivery 

points, generally at low pressure and in urban areas, for delivery to end clients.

Technical terms

Gas distributed

Amount of gas delivered to users of the distribution network at the redelivery points.

Equalisation

Difference between revenues for the period (annual TRL) and those invoiced to retail companies on the basis of 

volumes distributed. The net position with the Equalisation Fund is established at the end of the thermal year and 

settled over the course of the year on the basis of advanced payments.

TRl (Total Revenue limit)

Total revenue allowed for distribution companies by the regulatory body to cover costs for providing distribution 

and metering services.
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Balance sheet 

  31.12.2011 30.06.2012

(€ million) Notes Total
of which with

related parties Total
of which with

related parties

     

Current assets      

Cash and cash equivalents 2  16  

Trade and other receivables (4) 1,545 546 2,138 587

Inventories (5) 235  240  

Current income tax assets 3  3  

Other current tax assets 5  5  

Other current assets (6) 33 2 46  

 1,823  2,448  

Non-current Assets     

Property, plant and equipment     (7) 14,053  14,234  

Compulsory inventories 405  405  

Intangible assets (8) 4,444  4,493  

Equity-accounted investments (9) 319  310  

Other non-current assets (10) 81 1 100 1

 19,302  19,542  

Non-current assets held for sale (11) 25  12  

TOTAL ASSETS 21,150   22,002  

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY    

Current liabilities     

Short-term financial liabilities (12) 2,787 1,612 3,044 3,032

Short-term portion of long-term financial liabilities (16) 1,612 277 406 406

Trade and other payables (13) 1,344  1,567 473

Current income tax liabilities (14) 175  101  

Other current tax liabilities (15) 16 78 13  

Other current liabilities 211  193 100

 6,145 5,324  

Non-current liabilities     

Long-term financial liabilities      (16) 6,800 6,800 8,300 6,800

Provisions for risks and charges (17) 527  614  

Provisions for employee benefits 107  108  

Deferred tax liabilities (18) 901  851  

Other non-current liabilities (19) 869 188 1,010 225

 9,204  10,883  

Liabilities directly associated with assets 
held for sale 9   

TOTAL LIABILITIES 15,358  16,207  

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (20)     

Snam shareholders’ equity     

Share capital 3,571  3,571  

Reserves 2,551  2,498  

Net profit  790  508  

Treasury shares  (783)  (783)  

Interim dividend  (338)    

Total Snam shareholders’ equity  5,791  5,794  

Minority interests  1  1  

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY  5,792  5,795  

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY  21,150  22,002  
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Income statement

 First half 2011 First half 2012

 
(€ million) Notes Total

of which with  
related parties Total

of which with
related parties  

REVENUE (23)     

Core business revenue  1,744 1,111 1,791 1,160 

Other revenue and income  18 6 72 25 

Total revenue  1,762  1,863  

OPERATING COSTS  (24)     

Purchases, services and other costs  (292) (37) (328) (23)

Personnel expense  (170)  (177)  

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses  (314)  (345)  

EBIT  986  1,013  

FINANCIAL INCOME (EXPENSE)  (25)     

Financial income  1  2  

Financial expense  (106) (98) (126) (116)

Derivatives  (40) (40) (43) (43)

  (145)  (167)  

INCOME (EXPENSE) ON EQUITY INVESTMENTS (26) 28  24  

Equity method valuation effect  28  24  

PRE-TAX PROFIT  869  870  

Income taxes (27) (293)  (362)  

Net profit   576  508  

Attributable to:      

- Snam  576  508  

- Minority shareholders     

Earnings per share      

- basic (€ per share) (28) 0.17   0.15  

- diluted (€  per share) (28) 0.17   0.15  

Statement of comprehensive income

(€ million) Notes First half 2011 First half 2012

Net profit  576 508

Other components of comprehensive income    

Change in fair value of cash flow hedge derivatives (effective share)  6  (54)

Tax effects of the other components of comprehensive income   (1)  17

Total other components of comprehensive income, net of tax effect (20) 5 (37)

Total comprehensive income  581 471

Attributable to:   

 - Snam  581  471

 - Minority shareholders   

581 471
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Statement of changes in shareholders’ equity 
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Shareholders’ equity at 31 December 2010  3,570  (1,713) 1,981 418  (49) 791 904 1,106  (789)  (304) 5,915 1 5,916

Transactions with shareholders:               

- Dividend distribution (€ 0.14 per share  
  to balance the 2010 interim dividend of 
€ 0.09 per share)          (777)  304  (473)   (473)

- Allocation of 2010 residual net profit     45   284  (329)      

- Capital increase for stock  
option plans  1          1  1

- Disposal of treasury shares for stock  
option plans   5    (5)   5  5  5

  1  5 45   (5) 284  (1,106) 5 304  (467)   (467)

Comprehensive income for first half 2011      5   576   581  581

Other changes in shareholders’ equity:                 

- Impact of Italgas and Stogit acquisition   9         9  9

- Difference between book value of shares 
sold and the strike price of stock options 
exercised by executives         (1)     (1)   (1)

   9      (1)    8  8

Comprehensive income for second half 2011 3,571  (1,704) 1,986 463  (44) 786 1,187 576  (784)  6,037 1 6,038

Other changes in shareholders’ equity:                 

- Impact of Italgas and Stogit acquisition            (338)  (338)   (338)

- Acquisition of business units   1        1  1

- Adjustment for prepaid IRES (Robin Hood Tax) 
charges through increase of share capital

  1    (1)   1  1  1

    2    (1) 1  (338)  (336)   (336)

Comprehensive income for second  
half 2011

     (126)   214   88  88

Other changes in shareholders’ equity:               

- Impact of Italgas and Stogit acquisition  3         3  3

- Acquisition of business units       (2)      (2)  

- Adjustment for prepaid IRES (Robin Hood 
Tax) charges through increase of share capital       1    1   

  3     (2) 1    2  2

Shareholders’ equity at 31 December 2011 (Note 20) 3,571  (1,701) 1,988 463  (170) 783 1,188 790  (783)  (338) 5,791 1 5,792

Transactions with shareholders:

- Dividend distribution (€ 0.14 per share   
to balance the 2011 interim dividend of 
€ 0.10 per share)

    35    (56)  (790)  338  (473)   (473)

- Reclassification to share premium reserve    (216) 216         

 (216) 251   (56)  (790) 338  (473)   (473)

Comprehensive income for first half  2012     (37)   508   471  471

Other changes in shareholders’ equity:                

- Impact of Italgas and Stogit acquisition  5         5  5

- Reclassification to IFRS first-time 
adoption reserves

(19) 19

 5   (19) 19    5  5

Shareholders’ equity at 30 June 2012  (Note 20) 3,571  (1,696) 1,772 714  (207) 764 1,151 508  (783)  5,794 1 5,795
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Statement of cash flows 

(€ million) Notes First half 2011 First half 2012

Net profit  576 508

Adjustments for reconciling profit for the year with cash flows from operating activities:    

Amortisation and depreciation (24) 322 345

Net impairment losses on property, plant and equipment and intangible assets  (8)  

Equity method valuation effect (26) (28) (24)

Net capital losses on asset sales, cancellations and eliminations  6  

Interest income  (1) (2)

Interest expense  140 161

Income taxes (27) 293 362

Other changes  (7)  

Changes in working capital:    

- Inventories  (7) 35

- Trade receivables  (153) (431)

- Trade payables  (86) 221

- Provisions for risks and charges  182 12

- Other assets and liabilities  80 (26)

Working capital cash flows  16 (189)

Change in provisions for employee benefits   1

Dividends collected  29 2

Interest collected  1 3

Interest paid  (140) (161)

Income taxes paid net of reimbursed tax credits  (325) (392)

Net cash flows from operating activities  874 614

 - of which with related parties (30) 985 1,136

Investments:    

- Property, plant and equipment  (492) (351)

- Intangible assets  (166) (142)

- Companies included in the consolidation scope and business units  9 (26)

- Change in payables and receivables relating to investments  (152) (186)

Cash flows from investment activities  (801) (705)

Divestments:    

- Property, plant and equipment  5 27

- Change in payables and receivables relating to divestments    

Cash flows from divestments  5 27

Net cash flows from investment activities  (796) (678)

 - of which with related parties (30) (200) (68)

Taking on long-term financial debt  422 1,521

Repaying long-term financial debt  (320) (1,227)

Increase (decrease) in short-term financial debt  283 257

  385 551

Net equity capital injections  5  

Dividends paid to Snam shareholders  (473) (473)

Net cash flows from financing activities  (83) 78

 - of which with related parties (30) 122 (1,224)

Net cash flow for the period  (5) 14

Cash and cash equivalents at start of period  8 2

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period  3 16
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Notes to the condensed interim consolidated financial statements 

BACkGROUND INFORMATION

Snam is involved in the regulated transportation, storage and distribution of natural gas and the regasification of liquefied 

natural gas (LNG). These activities are carried out via its integrated infrastructure in Italy.

The parent company, Snam S.p.A., is an Italian company listed on the Milan Stock Exchange, with its registered office at Piazza 

Santa Barbara 7, San Donato Milanese (MI). At 30 June 2012, Eni S.p.A. held 52.53%1 of the share capital of Snam S.p.A..

1) Basis of presentation 

The condensed interim consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with IAS 34, “Interim Financial Reporting”. 

The financial statements are the same as those adopted for the annual report. In the condensed interim consolidated financial 

statements, the same consolidation principles and accounting policies have been used as those used to prepare the annual 

report, except for IFRSs which have entered into force since 1 January 2012, described in the section of the 2011 annual report 

on “Accounting standards and interpretations issued by the IASB/IFRIC”. The notes to the financial statements are in condensed 

form.

Current income taxes are calculated by estimating the taxable income. Receivables and payables for current taxes are recognised 

based on the amount which is expected to be paid/recovered to/from the tax authorities under the prevailing tax regulations 

or those essentially approved at the reporting date and the rates estimated on an annual basis.

Consolidated companies, non-consolidated subsidiaries, companies under joint control, associates and other significant equity 

investments, reporting for which is covered by Article 126 of Consob Resolution 11971 of 14 May 1999, as subsequently 

amended, are indicated separately in the annex “Significant shareholdings, associates and equity investments of Snam at 30 

June 2012”, which is an integral part of these notes.

The condensed interim consolidated financial statements at 30 June 2012, approved by the Board of Directors of Snam S.p.A. 

at its meeting of 30 July 2012, have undergone a limited audit by Reconta Ernst & Young S.p.A.. The limited audit has a much 

smaller scope than a full audit carried out in accordance with established auditing principles.

Given their size, amounts in the financial statements and respective notes are expressed in millions of euros.

2) Use of estimates 

For a description of the use of accounting estimates, please see the annual report.

3) Recently issued IFRS 

Regarding the description of recently issued IFRSs, in addition what is provided in the annual report, the major pronouncements 

of the IASB not yet approved by the European Commission are described below.

On 28 June 2012, the IASB issued the document “Consolidated Financial Statements, Joint Arrangements and Disclosure 

of Interests in Other Entities: Transition Guidance (Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12)” which provides some 

clarifications and simplifications of the transition requirements of IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12. The measures will take 

effect from financial years starting on or after 1 January 2013.

On 17 May 2012, the IASB issued the document “Annual improvements to IFRSs 2009 – 2011 Cycle”, containing amendments, 

mainly technical and editorial, to the existing international accounting standards. The provisions will take effect from 

financial years starting on or after 1 January 2013.

At present, Snam is analysing the standards mentioned and is assessing whether their adoption will have a significant 

impact on the financial statements.

1 On 18 July 2012, Eni sold 5% of the share capital to institutional investors. 
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CURRENT ASSETS

4) Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables of €2,138 million (€1,545 million at 31 December 2011) comprise:

(€ million) 31.12.2011 30.06.2012

Trade receivables 1,367 1,798

Financial receivables:

- Held for operations 2 2

Other receivables 176 338

 1,545 2,138

Receivables are reported net of the provision for impairment losses of €39 million (the same as at 31 December 2011). 

The change in the provision for impairment losses on receivables during the half-year is shown below:
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Trade receivables 36   1 (1) 36

Other receivables 3 3

 39 1 (1) 39

Trade receivables of €1,798 million (€1,367 million at 31 December 2011) mainly refer to the natural gas transportation 

(€1,000 million), storage (€560 million) and distribution (€226 million) business segments.

Trade receivables relating to the natural gas transportation segment (€1,000 million) include receivables for natural gas 

balancing services provided (€572 million), in application of Electricity and Gas Authority Resolution ARG/gas 45/11. Under this 

measure, the leading natural gas transportation company (Snam Rete Gas S.p.A.), takes responsibility for the overall balancing 

of the natural gas transportation system, procures the necessary storage resources to cover imbalances for individual users 

and provides for the adjustment of the balance of income statement entries. In every case the regulations stipulate that the 

neutrality of the company responsible for balancing must be guaranteed. Specifically, the current regulations also stipulate that, 

if costs arise in relation to non-recoverable receivables due to insolvency of users of balancing not covered by the guarantee 

system, Snam Rete Gas must notify the Authority, which then defines the procedures for recovery via a special fee. To this end, 

Resolution ARG/gas 155/11, in relation to economic items that have arisen within the system of balance of economic merit 

since 1 December 2011, stipulates that the company responsible for balancing to will receive from the Electricity Equalisation 

Fund the value of unpaid receivables between the end of the month following the month of notification2.

For the storage business segment in particular, trade receivables (€560 million) mainly relate to fees charged on the use, by 

users, of strategic gas (gas not replenished by those users according to the terms of the Storage Code) which, when collected 

according to the regulatory framework in force, will be paid into the Electricity Equalisation Fund. Considering the current 

regulatory framework (Resolution ARG/gas 119/10, Article 10, paragraph 5 in Annex A) which leaves the storage company 

in a neutral position with regard to the effects of the withdrawal of strategic gas by users, against credits for the use of 

2 The company responsible for balancing will deliver the notification, four months after expiry of the unpaid invoices.
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strategic gas not replenished, the recognition of a liability of equal amount was provided3.

During the first half of 2012, transfers of trade receivables without recourse or notification, including not due, were assumed in 

the nominal amount of €117 million with an increase of cash equivalents by the same amount. The transfer concerned trade 

receivables relating to the natural gas transportation segment. By virtue of the contractual provisions agreed, Snam provides 

for the cash management of the receivables transferred and, within the limits of these, the transfer of the amounts received 

to the factoring company. 

Other receivables of €338 million (€176 million at 31 December 2011) comprise:

(€ million) 31.12.2011 30.06.2012

- IRES receivables for the national tax consolidation scheme 35 115

- Receivables from investment/divestment activities 41 49

- Group VAT credit 4 1

Other receivables:

- Electricity Equalisation Fund 26 95

- VAT advance 26

- Advances to suppliers 26 19

- Other 18 59

 96 173

 176 338

IRES receivables for the national tax consolidation scheme (€115 million) concern: (i) greater allowances of tax paid (€105 

million); and (ii) receivables with the parent company Eni (€10 million) relating to the IRES refund request for 10% of the 

regional production tax (IRAP) for the 2004, 2005, 2006 and 2007 tax years (pursuant to Article 6 of Legislative Decree 185 of 

28 November 2008, enacted by Law 2 of 28 January 2009).

Receivables from investment/divestment activities (€49 million) concern receivables for private grants entered against 

investment activities (€20 million) and from divestments of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (€29 million).

Receivables from the Electricity Equalisation Fund (€95 million) mainly concern: (i) receivables for energy efficiency certificates4  

(€59 million); and (ii) additional tariff components in the natural gas distribution segment (€36 million).

The residual item, “Other” (€59 million), mainly refers to: (i) receivables for dividends to be received (€30 million) relating to 

equity participations under joint control in the natural gas distribution segment; and (ii) receivables from public authorities 

(13 million).

The fair value measurement of trade and other receivables has no material impact considering the short period of time from 

when the receivable arises and its due date.

All receivables are in Euros. Receivables from related parties are described in Note 30, “Related-party transactions”.

3 With regard to withdrawals by Stogit users of strategic gas not replenished by these users within the deadlines stipulated in the Storage Code, Snam 
has been taking action, including legal action, against these parties since 2011. 
Specifically, the Company has requested and obtained two injunctions for recovery of the sums owed (for one of these, in opposition proceedings, 
provisional execution has been granted), initiated ordinary proceedings to obtain an injunction for payment and launched summary proceedings for the 
replenishment of the gas withdrawn, for which the judgement of merit is under way.

4 Legislative Decree 164 of 23 May 2000 stipulates that natural gas distribution firms set consumption reduction and energy savings targets to be met 
through raising energy efficiency, and that they are awarded Energy Efficiency Certificates (established by the Ministerial Decrees of 20 July 2004) 
depending on the results achieved. The energy efficiency targets can be met either by implementing energy efficiency policies or by purchasing 
certificates from other parties. Once the energy efficiency target is met, cancelling the excess certificates triggers repayment by the Electricity 
Equalisation Fund on the basis of dedicated funds built up through distribution tariff increases.
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5) Inventories 

Inventories of €240 million (€235 million at 31 December 2011) are analysed in the table below:

 31.12.2011 30.06.2012  

(€ million) 
Gross 

amount
Impairment 

losses Net amount
Gross 

amount
Impairment 

losses Net amount Change

Raw materials, consumables and supplies 194 (6) 188 212 (6) 206 18 

Finished products and merchandise 47  47 34  34 (13)

 241 (6) 235 246 (6) 240 5 

Inventories of raw materials, consumables and supplies (€206 million) primarily include: (i) natural gas used for transportation 

activities (€137 million); and (ii) stock materials relating to the pipeline network (€39 million) and the distribution network 

(€20 million).

The inventories of finished products and merchandise (€34 million) refer to the natural gas present in the storage system 

(422 million standard cubic metres; 585 million standard cubic metres at 31 December 2011) and do not include compulsory 

inventories, recognised under non-current assets on the balance sheet.

Inventories are stated net of the provision for impairment losses of €6 million (unchanged from 31 December 2011), set up 

to account for slow-moving materials.

Inventories are not collateralised. Inventories do not secure liabilities, nor are they recognised at net realisation value.

6) Other current assets

Other current assets of €46 million (€33 million at 31 December 2011) comprise:

(€ million) 31.12.2011 30.06.2012

Accrued income from regulated activities 11 12 

 11 12 

Other current assets:   

- Prepayments 22 34 

 22 34 

 33 46 

Accrued income from regulated activities of €12 million relates to: (i) penalties for the 2007-2008 thermal year under the 

Resolution ARG/gas 27/10, repaid to users of the transportation service during 2011 and to be recovered by tariff adjustment 

(€7 million); (ii) the current portion (€5 million) of assets recorded against the recognition by the Electricity and Gas Authority, 

of additional expenses borne during the second regulatory period (1 October 2005 - 31 December 2009) for the purchase of 

fuel gas used in the transportation business5.  

Prepayments of €34 million mainly refer to (i) the current portion of repayments on up-front fees relating to the mandate for 

the structuring and underwriting of a pool loan of €11 billion, and to up-front fees and substitute tax owned to lending banks 

5 The recognition of such assets follows Resolutions VIS 8/09, ARG/gas 184/09 and ARG/gas 218/10, whereby the Electricity and Gas Authority recognised 
the additional expenses borne by the Company respectively in the 2005-2006 and 2006-2007 thermal years (€45 million overall), the 2007-2008 
thermal year (€34 million) and the period from 1 October 2008 - 31 December 2009 (€55 million). Pursuant to Article 6 of Resolution ARG/gas 
184/09, the recognition of the additional costs is subject to equalisation with the users through tariff adjustment: (i) from 1 January 2010 for the 
additional costs sustained in thermal years 2005-2006, 2006-2007 and 2007-2008; and (ii) from 1 January 2011 for the additional costs sustained by 
the Company in the period 1 October 2008 - 31 December 2009.       
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relating to the granting of a revolving credit line of €1.5 billion expiring on 31 July 2016 (€23 million)6; and (ii) equalisation, 

to be received in kind from users of the natural gas transportation service, calculated as the difference between the quantities 

of fuel gas used in 2010 to carry out the service and the quantities allocated by users in the same year, pursuant to Resolution 

ARG/gas 184/09 (€8 million).

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

7) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment of €14,234 million (€14,053 million at 31 December 2011) comprise: 
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*)

Property, plant and equipment 19,476 (5,423) 14,053 356  (255)  (3) 83 14,234 19,925 (5,691)

(*)  Of which €7 million in the provision for impairment losses.

Investments during the period amounted to €3567 million  (€488 million in the first half of 2011) and mainly refer to the 

natural gas transportation (€292 million) and storage (€61 million) business segments.

Other changes (€83 million) relate essentially to: (i) revised estimates of the cost for dismantling and restoration of natural 

gas storage sites (+€63 million) owing to lower expected discount rates; (ii) the reclassification (+€25 million) of the item 

“Non-current assets held for sale” of a property complex owned by Italgas; (iii) the change in the stock of pipes purchased for 

investment and not yet employed in the construction of plants (+€7 million); and (iv) grants for the period (-€12 million).

Contractual commitments for the purchase of property, plant and equipment, and the goods and services related to their 

construction, are disclosed in Note 22, “Guarantees, commitments and risks”.

6 Up-front fees and substitute tax are to be regarded as “Transaction costs” pursuant to IAS 39; the relative charges are spread throughout the (expected) 
life of the financial instrument. Information on the debt refinancing is provided in the section “Highlights - Key events in the first half of 2012” in the 
director’s report.

7 For further information on investments for the period, see the “Business segment operating performance” section of the directors’ report.
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Property, plant and equipment by business segment

Property, plant and equipment are broken down by business segment as follows:

(€ million) 31.12.2011 30.06.2012

Gross property, plant and equipment   

Business segments   

- Corporate 12

- Transportation 16,225 16,498

- Regasification 128 128

- Storage 2,643 2,766

- Distribution 480 521

Total 19,476 19,925

Provision for amortisation, depreciation and impairment losses   

- Corporate (10)

- Transportation (4,470) (4,672)

- Regasification (39) (42)

- Storage (659) (687)

- Distribution (255) (280)

Total (5,423) (5,691)

Net property, plant and equipment  

- Corporate 2

- Transportation 11,755 11,826

- Regasification 89 86

- Storage 1,984 2,079

- Distribution 225 241

          14,053          14,234

8) Intangible assets

Intangible assets of €4,493 million (€4,444 million at 31 December 2011) comprise:
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Intangible assets:           

 - With a finite useful life 7,784 (3,349) 4,435 168  (90)  (24)  (5) 4,484 7,885 (3,401)

 - With an indefinite useful life 9  9     9 9  

           

 7,793 (3,349) 4,444 168  (90)  (24)  (5) 4,493 7,894 (3,401)

(*)  Including impairment losses of €1 million.
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Intangible assets with a finite useful life (€4,484 million) mainly concern: (i) assets recognised in relation to concession 

agreements pursuant to IFRIC 12 relating to the natural gas distribution business segment (€3,659 million); and (ii) concessions 

for natural gas storage (€655 million).

Indefinite useful-life intangible assets consist only of goodwill recognised following the acquisition by Italgas of 100% of the 

shares of Siciliana Gas (€9 million).

For the purposes of calculating recoverable value, goodwill has been allocated to the cash-generating unit consisting of natural 

gas distribution activities. The recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit was estimated by equity/income type valuations 

with reference to the value of the asset recognised for tariff purposes (RAB – regulated asset base), as well as to additional 

income components deriving from the regulation, and is greater than the carrying amount of the cash-generating unit.

Investments in intangible assets of €168 million (€193 million in the first half of 2011) relate to: (i) the construction and upgrading 

of natural gas distribution infrastructure (€155 million); and (ii) internal projects for IT system development (€13 million).

Other changes (-€5 million) relate essentially to: (i) grants for the period (-€26 million); (ii) the reclassification to the item 

“Assets held for sale” of some assets (-€10 million) of natural gas distribution segment;  and (iii) business units acquired 

or arising from re-adjudicated tender procedures (€31 million) relating mainly to gas distribution infrastructure in the 

municipalities of Cernusco sul Naviglio and Sulmona.

Existing contractual commitments for the purchase of intangible assets, and of services related to their development, are 

disclosed in Note 22, “Guarantees, commitments and risks”.

9) Equity-accounted investments

Equity-accounted investments of €310 million (€319 million at 31 December 2011) refer to equity investments in the 

distribution business segment and are broken down as follows:  
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 Equity-accounted investments  319   24                      (1) (32) 310

319   24 (1) (32) 310

Capital gains from measurement using the equity method of €24 million mainly relate to Azienda Energia e Servizi Torino 

S.p.A. (€15 million) and Toscana Energia S.p.A. (€8 million).

Investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates can be found in the annex “Significant shareholdings, 

associates and equity investments of Snam at 30 June 2012”, which is an integral part of these notes.

10) Other non-current assets

Other non-current assets of €100 million (€81 million at 31 December 2011) break down as follows:

(€ million) 31.12.2011 30.06.2012

Accrued income from regulated activities 66 76

Other non-current assets:   

- Prepayments 6 16

- Security deposits 6 6

- Other assets 3 2

15 24

81 100
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Accrued income from regulated activities of €76 million mainly reflects the non-current portion (€67 million) of lower 

amounts invoiced in relation to the natural gas transportation service compared with the limit set by the Electricity and Gas 

Authority.

Prepayments (€16 million) refer mainly to the non-current portion of prepayments relating to up-front fees and substitute 

tax owed to the lending banks8. 

11) Assets held for sale 

Assets held for sale of €12 million (€25 million at 31 December 2011) mainly refer to plants relating to natural gas distribution 

concessions (€10 million) for which was signed, starting on 1 July 2012, the contract of sale to the successor contractor that 

won the call for tenders pursuant to Legislative Decree 164/2000.

In the first half of 2012, respective amounts of €25 million and €9 million were reclassified to the items “Property, plant and 

equipment” and “Provisions for risks and charges”. 

CURRENT LIABILITIES

12) Short-term financial liabilities

Short-term financial liabilities of €3,044 million (€2,787 million at 31 December 2011) are denominated entirely in euros and 

relate credit lines with Eni S.p.A..

Short-term financial liabilities comprise only floating-rate loans. The weighted average interest rate on short-term financial 

liabilities is 0.63% and 1.17% for the first half of 2011 and the first half of 2012, respectively.

The market value of short-term financial liabilities is the same as their book value.

At 30 June 2012, there were no breaches of loan agreements.

13) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables of €1,567 million (€1,344 million at 31 December 2011) comprise:

(€ million) 31.12.2011 30.06.2012

Trade payables 556 777

Payables for investments 486 308

Other payables 302 482

1,344 1,567

Trade payables of €777 million (€556 million at 31 December 2011) mainly refer mainly to the natural gas transportation 

(€512 million), distribution (€194 million) and corporate (€61 million) business segments.

Payables for investment activities of €308 million (€486 million at 31 December 2011) refer mainly to the natural gas 

transportation (€175 million), distribution (€53 million) and storage (€48 million) business segments.

8 For further information, see Note 6, “Other current assets”.     
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Other payables of €482 million (€302 million at 31 December 2011) break down as follows:

 
(€ million) 31.12.2011 30.06.2012

Payables for national tax consolidation scheme 19 176

Payables for Group VAT 20 25

Other payables:

- Payables to the Electricity Equalisation Fund 141 150

- Payables to employees 51 36

- Payables to pension and social security institutions 23 26

- Payments on account and advances 5 25

 - Payables to the government 20 14

- Other 23 30

263 281

302 482

Payables to the Electricity Equalisation Fund (€150 million) concern accessory tariff components that mainly relate to: (i) the 

transportation business segment (special tariffs for gas sector customers experiencing hardship and measures and steps for 

energy savings and the development of renewable sources in the natural gas sector, interruptibility fees and regional network 

capacity fees), pursuant to Electricity and Gas Authority Resolutions ARG/com 93/10 and ARG/gas 177/10, 277/07 and 45/07 

(€100 million); (ii) to the storage segment (coverage of the equalisation imbalances account), pursuant to Resolution 50/06 

(€33 million); and (iii) the distribution segment (energy savings, gas service quality, equalisation imbalances and disadvantaged 

customers), mainly pursuant to Resolution ARG/gas 159/08 (€16 million).

Payables to the government (€14 million) primarily involve payables to municipalities for concession fees for the distribution 

business.

The fair value measurement of trade and other payables has no material impact given the short period of time between when 

the payable arises and its due date.

Note 30 “Related-party transactions” contains information about payables due to related parties.

14) Current income tax liabilities and other current tax liabilities

Current income tax liabilities of €101 million (€175 million at 31 December 2011) relate to the additional IRES (“Robin Hood 

Tax”), applied to the natural gas transportation and distribution business segments (€59 million),  and IRAP (€42 million).

Other current tax liabilities of €13 million (€16 million at 31 December 2011) mainly relate to IRPEF (personal income tax) 

withholdings for employees (€9 million) and deferred VAT payables to be paid to public authorities (€3 million).  

15) Other current liabilities

Other current liabilities of €193 million (€211 million at 31 December 2011) comprise:

(€ million) 31.12.2011 30.06.2012

Prepaid income from regulated activities 129 89

Derivatives:   

- Fair value of derivatives 75 90

- Accrued interest differentials on derivatives 3 8

 78 98

Other current liabilities:   

- Deferred and prepaid revenue and income 4 6

 211 193
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Prepaid income from regulated activities of €89 million relates to: (i) the natural gas storage business segment (€51 million) and 

concerns payments for balancing and stock replenishment, which are to be returned to service users based on the provisions of 

Resolution 50/06 of the Electricity and Gas Authority; and (ii) the transportation business segment (€38 million) and concerns 

the short-term portion of revenues invoiced in excess of the restriction established by the Electricity and Gas Authority, and 

penalties charged to users who exceeded the committed capacity, which is to be returned through tariff adjustments pursuant 

to Resolution 166/05.

Information on the fair value of derivatives at 30 June 2012 is summarised below:

(€ million) 31.12.2011 30.06.2012

Interest rate agreements Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

Fair Value Interest Rate Swap   (263)  (316)

Less:     

- Non-current share  188  226 

Current share  (75)  (90)

The fair value of hedging derivatives, as well as their classification as an asset/liability over 12 months (non-current) or an 

asset/liability within 12 months (current) have been determined using generally accepted financial valuation models and 

market prices at the balance sheet date.

(€ million)          
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    31.12.2011 30.06.2012   31.12.2011 30.06.2012

Interest rate swap 24.11.2005 24.11.2015 10 500 500 euribor fixed rate  (44)  (48)

Interest rate swap 26.03.2007 26.03.2012 5 500  euribor fixed rate  (3)  

Interest rate swap 30.06.2009 28.01.2016 7 700 700 euribor fixed rate  (52)  (60)

Interest rate swap 02.12.2009 02.12.2013 4 350 350 euribor fixed rate  (9)  (9)

Interest rate swap 02.12.2009 02.12.2015 6 200 200 euribor fixed rate  (11)  (14)

Interest rate swap 30.07.2010 31.07.2017 7 500 500 euribor fixed rate  (25)  (38)

Interest rate swap 02.08.2010 03.08.2015 5 300 300 euribor fixed rate  (10)  (14)

Interest rate swap 15.09.2010 15.12.2012 2 185 185 euribor fixed rate  (1)  (1)

Interest rate swap 16.09.2010 16.09.2015 5 200 200 euribor fixed rate  (7)  (9)

Interest rate swap 20.09.2010 9.05.2012 2 200  euribor fixed rate   

Interest rate swap 27.09.2010 28.09.2012 2 300 300 euribor fixed rate  (1)  (1)

Interest rate swap 27.09.2010 28.09.2012 2 300 300 euribor fixed rate  (1)  (1)

Interest rate swap 30.09.2010 28.09.2012 2 300 300 euribor fixed rate  (1)  (1)

Interest rate swap 4.10.2010 4.10.2012 2 300 300 euribor fixed rate  (1)  (1)

Interest rate swap 4.10.2010 4.10.2012 2 300 300 euribor fixed rate   (1)

Interest rate swap 4.11.2010 7.05.2013 3 300 300 euribor fixed rate  (1)  (2)

Interest rate swap 16.09.2011 16.09.2018 7 200 200 euribor fixed rate  (20)  (25)

Interest rate swap 30.09.2011 28.09.2018 7 500 500 euribor fixed rate  (52)  (66)

Interest rate swap 19.10.2011 19.10.2016 5 300 300 euribor fixed rate  (27)  (33)

    6,435 5,735   (266) (324)

Negative changes in the fair value deducted from shareholders’ equity in the first half of 2012, net of the related tax effect, 

amount to €37 million (€121 million at 31 December 2011).

At 30 June 2012, Snam had 17 cash flow hedge derivatives in place. In the first half of 2012, two derivative contracts related 

to two loans expired.



78

Snam Half - year Report 2012

Snam Condensed interim consolidated financial statements / Notes

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

16) Long-term financial liabilities and short-term portions of long-term liabilities

Long-term financial liabilities, including the short-term portions, of €8,706 million (€8,412 million at 31 December 2011) 

comprise:

31.12.2011 30.06.2012

(€ million)

Short-term 
portion

Long-term 
portion Total

Short-term 
portion

Long-term 
portion Total

Banks    1,500 1,500

Parents 1,612 6,800 8,412 406 6,800 7,206

 1,612 6,800 8,412 406 8,300 8,706 

Most of Snam’s loans are contracted with Eni S.p.A.. The increase in long-term financial liabilities, including the short-term 

portions, is mainly due to the net balance between the disbursement  (€1,500 million) and repayments (€1,200 million 

relating to loans with Eni). Specifically, payables to other lenders relate to the disbursement of two tranches of a floating-

rate revolving credit line falling due on 31 July 2016, for respective amounts of €1,000 million and €500 million. The loan 

of €500 million was converted into a fixed-rate loan via an existing IRS (interest rate swap) contract. This transaction, 

within the overall framework set out by the DPCM of 25 May 2012, is part of the general debt refinancing plan established 

by Snam9.

9 More information on Snam’s debt refinancing is provided in the section “Highlights - Key events in the first half of 2012” in the director’s report.     
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The breakdown of long-term financial liabilities, including the short-term portions, (€8,706 million) is as follows:

 
(€ million)        

Lender Currency Amount

Fixed rate (F) 
Floating 
rate (V)

Type of 
repayment

Disbursement 
date

Maturity 
date

Residual 
duration  

(years/months)

Long-term loans        

Eni (a)  € 500 F On maturity 24.11.2005 24.11.2015 3y 5m

Eni (Credit line)  (a)  € 1,500 F Revolving (b) 24.11.2005 17.11.2014 2y 5m

Eni (a)  € 185 F On maturity 15.12.2005 15.12.2012  6m

Eni  € 200 F On maturity 18.07.2007 18.07.2012  1m

Eni  € 350 F On maturity 20.12.2007 14.11.2017 5y 4m

Eni  € 400 F On maturity 28.10.2008 14.11.2013 1y 4m

Eni (a)  € 700 F On maturity 30.06.2009 28.01.2016 3y 7m

Eni (a)  € 300 F On maturity 30.06.2009 28.01.2016 1y 5m

Eni (a)  € 350 F On maturity 02.12.2009 02.12.2013 3y 5m

Eni (a)  € 200 F On maturity 02.12.2009 02.12.2015 3y 7m

Eni (a)  € 500 F On maturity 30.07.2010 31.07.2017 5y 1m

Eni (a)  € 300 F On maturity 02.08.2010 03.08.2015 3y 1 m

Eni (a)  € 200 F On maturity 16.09.2010 16.09.2015 3y 3 m

Eni  € 400 F On maturity 21.03.2011 20.12.2013 1y 6m

Eni  € 300 F On maturity 12.07.2011 12.07.2017 5y 

Eni (a)  € 200 F On maturity 16.09.2011 16.09.2018 6y 3m

Eni (a)  € 300 F On maturity 19.10.2011 19.10.2017 5y 4m

Other lenders (credit line)  (a)  € 500 F Revolving (b) 29.06.2012 31.07.2016 4y 1m

Total fixed rate  7,385     

Other lenders (credit line)  € 1,000 V Revolving (b) 28.06.2012 31.07.2016  4y 1m

Eni (c) € 300 V Amortised (d) 30.12.2009 15.12.2029              17y 6m

Total floating rate  1,300    

Total long-term loans 8,685      

Accrued expenses  21      

  8,706      

(a)    Floating-rate loans converted by interest rate swaps into fixed-rate loans.
(b)  Revolving credit lines are those which provide for the reconstitution of the credit limit in line with repayments. 
(c) Borrowed from the European Investment Bank (EIB). 
(d) Loan to be repaid in equal instalments with a grace period.

At 30 June 2012 the revolving credit lines were fully drawn (the same as at 31 December 2011). There were no breaches of 

loan agreements at the reporting date.

Snam has entered into a €300 million loan agreement with Eni funded by the European Investment Bank (EIB), which is based 

on Eni maintaining a minimum rating. This condition has been met.
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The breakdown of long-term financial liabilities by type of interest rate is as follows:

 31.12.2011 30.06.2012

(€ million) Amount % Amount %

At fixed rate  8,112   96 7,406 85

At floating rate  300  4 1,300 15

 8,412  100 8,706 100

The market value of long-term financial liabilities, including the short-term portions, is €8,869 million and was obtained by 

discounting future cash flows using a discount rate of between 0.37% and 1.21% (between 1.0% and 1.9% at 31 December 2011).

Below are details on net financial debt showing related-party transactions:

 31.12.2011 30.06.2012

(€ million) Current Non current Total Current Non current Total

A. Cash and cash equivalents 2  2 16  16 

B. Securities not held for operations       

C. Cash (A+B) 2  2 16  16 

D. Financial receivables not held for operations      

E. Short-term financial liabilities to banks    12  12 

F. Long-term financial liabilities to banks     1,500 1,500 

G. Bonds       

H. Short-term financial liabilities to related parties 2,787  2,787 3,032  3,032 

 I. Long-term financial liabilities to related parties 1,612 6,800 8,412 406 6,800 7,206 

L. Other short-term financial liabilities       

M. Other long-term financial liabilities       

N. Gross financial debt (E+F+G+H+I+L+M) 4,399 6,800 11,199 3,450 8,300 11,750 

O. Net financial debt (N-C-D) 4,397 6,800 11,197 3,434 8,300 11,734 

17) Provisions for risks and charges

Provisions for risks and charges of €614 million (€527 million at 31 December 2011) are broken down in the table below:
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Provision for site dismantlement and restoration 306 65  6    377

Provision for environmental risk and charges 63  10 1 (2)  9 81

Provision for litigation 77  5   (7)  75

Other provisions 81  5  (6) 1 81

 527 65 20 7 (8) (7) 10 614

The provision for site dismantlement and restoration (€377 million) was recognised primarily due to charges which are 

expected to be borne for the removal of natural gas storage facilities and for site restoration (€362 million). Changes in 

estimates (€65 million) relate maily to revision of estimated costs of withdrawing from and restoring natural gas storage sites 

due to lower expected discount rates (€63 million).

Other changes (€10 million) relate mainly to the reclassification (€9 million) from the item “Liabilities directly associated with 

assets held for sale” of provisions for environmental charges on a property complex owned by Italgas.
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18) Deferred tax liabilities

(€ million) 31.12.2011 Provisions Utilisations Other changes 30.06.2012

Deferred tax liabilities            1,452 4 (41) 27 1,442

Prepaid tax assets  (551) (24) 28 (44) (591)

  901 (20) (13) (17) 851

Deferred tax liabilities of €851 million (€901 million at 31 December 2011) are stated net of offsettable deferred tax assets of 

€591 million (€551 million at 31 December 2011). There are no prepaid tax assets which cannot be offset.

Other changes (€17 million) refer mainly to the change in the fair value of hedging derivatives.

19) Other non-current liabilities

Other non-current liabilities of €1,010 million (€869 million at 31 December 2011) comprise:

(€ million) 31.12.2011 30.06.2012

Prepaid income from regulated activities 306 367

Derivatives:   

- Fair value of derivatives 188 226

 188 226

Other non-current liabilities:   

- Deferred and prepaid revenue and income 317 316

- Prepaid contributions for connecting to the transportation network 3 3

- Other liabilities 55 98

 375 417

 869 1,010

Prepaid income from regulated activities (€367 million) relates to: (i) the non-current portion of transportation revenue invoiced 

in excess of the restriction established by the Regulator and penalties charged to service users that exceeded the committed 

capacity (€200 million); this amount is to be adjusted based on the provisions of Resolution 166/05 of the Electricity and Gas 

Authority; and (ii) the non-current portion of payments for penalties, balancing and stock replenishment (€167 million) to be 

returned to service users based on the provisions of Resolution 50/06 of the Electricity and Gas Authority.

Deferred and prepaid revenue and income (€316 million) refer to: (i) fees for the use of strategic gas withdrawn and not replenished 

under the terms of the Storage Code (€297 million); and (ii) the non-current portion of the prepaid fee for the concession to use 

fibre-optic cables given to a telecommunications operator (€19 million).

Other liabilities (€98 million) refer mainly to the non-current portion of the adjustment, to be repaid in kind to users of the 

natural gas transportation service, of the quantity of fuel gas used in 2011 to operate the service with the quantities allocated by 

users during the same year, pursuant to Resolution ARG/gas 184/09 (€85 million).

For information about derivatives, see Note 15 “Other current liabilities”.
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20) Shareholders’ equity 

Shareholders’ equity of €5,795 million at 30 June 2012 (€5,792 million at 31 December 2011) breaks down as follows:

(€ million) 31.12.2011 30.06.2012

Snam shareholders’ equity   

Share capital 3,571 3,571

Legal reserve 463 714

Share premium reserve 1,988 1,772

Consolidation reserve (1,701) (1,696)

Cash flow hedge reserve (170) (207)

Other reserves 783 764

Retained earnings 1,188 1,151

Net profit 790 508

Less:   

- Treasury shares (783) (783)

- Interim dividend (338)  

 5,791 5,794

Capital and reserves attributable to minority interests  

Napoletanagas 1 1

 5,792 5,795

Share capital

At 30 June 2012, the fully subscribed and paid-up share capital of Snam S.p.A. consisted of 3,571,187,994 ordinary shares with 

a nominal value of €1 (the same number as at 31 December 2011). 

Legal reserve

The legal reserve at 30 June 2012 was €714 million, compared with €463 million at 31 December 2011. The increase of €251 

million is mainly due to: (i) the allocation of 5% of the profit for 2011 of parent company Snam S.p.A., pursuant to Article 2430 

of the Italian Civil Code (€35 million); and (ii) the reclassification from the share premium reserve of the amount required to 

meet the limit stipulated in Article 2430 of the Italian Civil Code (€216 million), resolved upon by the Shareholders’ Meeting 

of 26 April 2012.2. 

Share premium reserve

The share premium reserve at 30 June 2012 totalled €1,772 million (€1,988 million at 31 December 2011). The decrease of 

€216 million is due to the reclassification to the legal reserve (€216 million).

Consolidation reserve

The negative consolidation reserve (€1,696 million compared with €1,701 million at 31 December 2011) includes the value 

derived from the difference between the acquisition cost of the Italgas and Stogit holdings (€4,623 million, including the additional 

transaction charges and price adjustment following the agreements reached at transaction closing) and the relative shareholders’ 

equity attributable to the Group on the transaction completion date (€2,004 million and€923 million, respectively, for Italgas 

and Stogit). 
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Cash flow hedge reserve

(€ million) Gross reserve Tax effect Net reserve

Reserve at 31 December 2011 (262) 92 (170)

Transfer to income statement 43 (16) 27

Changes in the first half of 2012 (97) 33 (64)

Reserve at 30 June 2012 (316) 109 (207)

The cash flow hedge reserve (-€207 million) includes the valuation, net of the related tax effect, of the fair value of cash flow 

hedge derivatives relating to interest rate swaps used by the Company to convert floating-rate loans into fixed-rate loans.   

Other reserves 

Other reserves of €764 million (€783 million at 31 December 2011) relate to the reserve created against the cost of 

192,553,051 treasury shares. The reduction of €19 million refers to the reclassification to the retained earnings reserve of 

the amount of the available balances relating to the first adoption of the IFRSs after implementation of Decree Law 38/2005.

Retained earnings

Retained earnings totalled €1,151 million (€1,188 million at 31 December 2011) and decreased by €37 million, due essentially 

to the payment of the balance of the dividend for 2011 (€56 million). 

Treasury shares

At 30 June 2012, Snam had a total of 192,553,051 treasury shares (unchanged from 31 December 2011), equivalent to 5.39% 

of its share capital. The total cost was €783 million, corresponding to an average unit purchase price of €4.06.

At 30 June 2012, the company had commitments to grant 3,003,351 shares under stock option plans.

The market value of the treasury shares at the end of the first half of 2012 was approximately €678 million10.

On 4 June 2012, the Board of Directors of Snam S.p.A. convened the Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting for 30 and 31 July and 

1 August 2012, in first, second and third call respectively, to resolve upon the proposed cancellation of treasury shares in the 

portfolio, after elimination of the par value of the shares in issue and consequent amendments to the Articles of Association. 

The Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting held on 30 July approved the Board of Directors’ proposals.

Dividends

The shareholders of Snam S.p.A. authorised the distribution of an ordinary dividend of €0.14 per share at the Ordinary 

Shareholders’ Meeting of 26 April 2012 to pay the balance of the interim 2011 dividend of €0.10 per share. The remaining 

dividend (€473 million) was paid from 24 May 2012, with an ex-dividend date of 21 May 2012.

For the current year, the Board of Directors at its meeting of 30 July 2012 prepared the report in accordance with Article 2433-

bis, paragraph 5 of the Italian Civil Code and, subject to the approval of the independent auditors, will be called on to authorise 

the payment of an interim dividend of €0,10 per share, excluding treasury shares held on the ex-dividend date, to be drawn 

from 2012 profits with payment on 25 October 2012 and an ex-dividend date of 22 October 2012.

21) Other information  

On 30 June 2012, 3,151,851 options existed (unchanged compared with 31 December 2011), to acquire 3,151,851 ordinary 

shares of Snam, with a nominal value of €1.

10 Calculated by multiplying the number of treasury shares by the period-end official price of €3.52 per share.
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22) Guarantees, commitments and risks  

Guarantees, commitments and risks of €5,165 million (€4,181 million at 31 December 2011) comprise:

 31.12.2011 30.06.2012 

(€ million)

Other
personal

guarantees
Commitments

and risks Total

Other
personal

guarantees
Commitments

and risks Total

Other personal guarantees given
on its own behalf:       

- Parents 65  65 73 73

- Other 8  8 8 8

 73  73 81 81

Commitments    

Commitments for the purchase of goods and services  1,723 1,723 2,393 2,393

Commitments to make equity investments  75 75 139 139

Other  4 4 4 4

 1,802 1,802 2,536 2,536

Risks:    

- Third-party assets on deposit  2,300 2,300 2,545 2,545

- Litigation  6 6 3 3

  2,306 2,306 2,548 2,548

 73 4,108 4,181 81 5,084 5,165

Guarantees

Other personal guarantees given on own behalf of €81 million (€73 million at 31 December 2011) essentially relate to: (i) hold-

harmless letters issued to Eni S.p.A. (€44 million) and third parties (€8 million) for sureties issued in favour of Snam, mainly 

performance bonds and to participate in tenders; (ii) hold-harmless letters issued to Eni S.p.A. (€23 million) for guarantees 

issued in favour of Snam for equity investments and concessions relating to the natural gas distribution service; and (iii) 

guarantees issued to the Municipality of San Donato Milanese (€4 million) to cover the commitments deriving from a project 

to construct a property complex in San Donato Milanese for office use.     

Commitments 

At 30 June 2012, commitments with suppliers to purchase property, plant and equipment and provide services relating to 

investments in property, plant and equipment and intangible assets under construction totalled €2,393 million (€1,723 

million at 31 December 2011).

Commitments to make equity investments (€139 million) refer to: (i) the joint agreement between Snam and Fluxys G with 

Eni (€75 million) for the purchase from Eni of 16.41% of Interconnector (UK) Ltd, the owner and operator of the underwater 

pipeline linking the United Kingdom (Bacton) and Belgium (Zeebrugge), of 51% of Interconnector Zeebrugge Terminal SCRL, 

which includes the terminal and compression plants that link the Interconnector pipeline with the gas transportation system 

in Belgium, and of 10% in Huberator S.A., a company controlled by Fluxys G and operator of the gas trading hub at Zeebrugge. 

The transaction involves the two purchasers acquiring the aforesaid investments in equal shares, for a total consideration of 

€150 million. Completion of the transaction is scheduled for the second half of 2012, pending authorisation by the relevant 

authorities; and (ii) the joint agreement between Snam and Fluxys G to purchase (€64 million), on an equal basis, 15.09% of 

E.ON’s holding in Interconnector UK. The transaction is scheduled for completion by the end of 2012, for €127 million in total.
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Risks

Risks related to third-party assets on deposit, equal to €2,545 million (€2,300 million at 31 December 2011) relate to about 6.7 

billion cubic metres of natural gas deposited in the storage plants by customers of the service. This amount was determined by 

applying the estimated unit repurchase cost of approximately €0.38 per standard cubic metre to the quantities of gas deposited.

Litigation risks (€3 million) refer to possible but not probable litigation charges relating to legal disputes.   

LIQUIDITY RISk 

Future payments for financial liabilities, trade and other payables

The table below shows the amounts of payments contractually owed for financial payables, including interest payments, and 

the timing of expenditure related to trade and miscellaneous payables.

  Year of maturity  

(€ million) 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 Over 2016 Total

Financial liabilities        

Long-term financial liabilities 385 1,150 1,500 1,220 2,520 1,910 8,685

Short-term financial liabilities 3,043 3,043

Derivative liabilities/(assets) 51 86 67 54 16 7 281

Interest on financial debt 108 190 170 173 128 160 929

 3,587 1,426 1,737 1,447 2,664 2,077 12,938

Trade and other payables        

Trade payables 777 777

Other payables and advances 589 589

 1,366 1,366

 4,953 1,426 1,737 1,447 2,664 2,077 14,304

OTHER INFORMATION ON FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Market value of financial instruments

Below is a comparison between the book value of long-term financial liabilities and their respective fair value. This information 

is not reported for other financial assets/liabilities because the book value is almost equivalent to the fair value.

 31.11.2011 30.06.2012

(€ million) Book value Market value Book value Market value

Financial liabilities                         8,412                        8,589 8,706 8,869

The market value was determined on the basis of the current value of future cash flows, using discount rates between 0.37% 

and 1.21% (1.0% and 1.9% at 31 December 2011). This information is not reported for other financial assets/liabilities because 

the book value is almost equivalent to the market value.

Below is the classification of financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on the balance sheet in accordance with the 

fair value hierarchy defined on the basis of the significance of the inputs used in the measurement process. More specifically, in 

accordance with the characteristics of the inputs used for measurement, the fair value hierarchy comprises the following levels:

a) level 1: prices quoted (and not amended) on active markets for the same financial assets or liabilities;

b) level 2: measurements made on the basis of inputs differing from the quoted prices referred to in the previous point, which, 

for the assets/liabilities submitted for measurement, are directly (prices) or indirectly (price derivatives) observable;

c) level 3: inputs not based on observable market data.



86

Snam Half - year Report 2012

Snam Condensed interim consolidated financial statements / Notes

With regard to the above, the classification of the financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on the balance sheet 

according to the fair value hierarchy concerned derivative financial instruments at 30 June 2012 classified at level 2 and 

entered under “Other current liabilities” (€90 million) and “Other non-current liabilities” (€226 million).

Litigation

Snam is involved in civil and administrative proceedings and legal actions related to its normal business activities. The following is 

a summary of the most significant proceedings and significant changes in the situation reported in the 2011 annual report; unless 

indicated otherwise, no allocation has been made for the litigation described below because the company believes it improbable 

that these proceedings will have an unfavourable outcome or because the amount of the allocation cannot be reliably estimated.

Criminal cases 

Italgas S.p.A. - Judiciary investigations into gas metering

In May 2007 Italgas received notice of a local search and seizure proceeding within the framework of case no. 11183/06 RGNR 

brought by the public prosecutor of the Milan district court. The document was also served upon the Chairman of the company. 

The charge alleged unlawful conduct starting in 2003 relating to the use of gas metering equipment, the payment of excise 

duties, the billing of customers and relations with the supervisory authority.

Among other things, the charges relate to offences established in Legislative Decree 231 of 8 June 2001, which provides for 

administrative liability of a company for crimes committed by its employees in the interest or to the advantage of the company itself.

In December 2010 a notice of conclusion of preliminary investigations was received relating only to the specific matter 

of using Venturi-type metering equipment installed in various Milan municipalities, at the connection stations between the 

national natural gas transportation networks and the local natural gas distribution networks. It should be noted that the public 

prosecutor of Milan presented (under the scope of case no. 11183/06) a Request for Dismissal.

At the same time it was learnt that the Milan public prosecutor transferred the jurisdiction of the prosecution relating to the 

metering systems installed in the province of Monza (alleged violation pursuant to Article 472 of the Italian Criminal Code) to 

the Monza public prosecutor. Lastly, the Judge for the preliminary investigations at the Court of Monza extended the term for 

the preliminary investigations (criminal case no. 14477/10 RGNR).

On 14 June 2012, following an application filed by the public prosecutor the preliminary investigations judge at the Milan 

district court dismissed the case against the then Chairman of the company concerning the use of Venturi-type metering 

equipment installed in various Milan municipalities, whilst at the same time providing for the documents to be sent to the 

Prefecture of Milan, which was responsible for issuing administrative fines. The preliminary investigations judge also provided 

for the aforementioned metering lines to be released from seizure.

The company is cooperating with the appropriate authorities in this investigation.

Snam Rete Gas S.p.A. - Tresana incident

The public prosecutor at the Massa district court has initiated criminal proceedings against unknown persons in relation to an 

incident that occurred on 18 January 2012 in the Municipality of Tresana (MS). Specifically, the event in question was a fire 

resulting from a gas leak, presumably caused by a broken dielectric fitting. The fire resulted in the death of a manual worker who 

was working for the contracting company and injuries to ten people, as well as damage to houses and possessions.

The part of the plant affected by the fire and the surrounding area have been seized following an order from the Public 

Prosecutor at the Massa district court, who has also appointed a court expert witness. Snam Rete Gas has appointed its own 

party expert witnesses.

The activities of the court expert witness and the party expert witnesses are in progress and theories on the causes of the fire 

have not yet been formulated.

It should also be pointed out that, obviously without prejudice to the ascertainment of liability, Snam Rete Gas has already 

taken action to satisfy, via its insurance company, the initial demands made by the Municipal Council in question and the 

private parties involved. 
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Snam Rete Gas S.p.A. – Criminal proceeding No. 7448/11R.G.R.N. 

The preliminary investigations judge at the Florence district court has set a date of 4 July 2012 for the preliminary hearing in relation 

to the proceeding pursuant to Article 589 of the Italian Criminal Code in connection with the death of a farmer on his property in 

Lastra a Signa (FI) on 20 July 2008.

This hearing was subsequently postponed until 27 September 2012.

According to the findings of the public prosecutor upon the conclusion of the preliminary investigations, the incident that caused 

the death was the result of a failure by certain Snam Rete Gas managers and employees at the time to comply with the technical 

regulations for affixing and maintaining signs around the natural gas transportation pipeline.

Competition Authority 

Italgas - Investigation of the gas distribution sector in Italy

Through measures taken on 14 December 2011, the Competition Authority concluded the investigation launched against Italgas 

to determine the existence of an abuse of dominant position involving the alleged obstruction of the municipalities of Rome 

and Todi in the preparation of the calls for tenders for the contracting of the gas distribution service. Though these measures, the 

Competition Authority issued Italgas with a fine of around €5 million. The Competition Authority accuses Italgas of having been late 

in supplying some of the information requested by the municipalities of Rome and Todi and of having completely refused to supply 

some information, particularly certain sections of the tariff schedule and, in relation to the municipality of Todi, also data on private 

contributions to the network. The Company had made sufficient provisions for risks and charges.

Italgas has appealed to the administrative court against the measures. A date of 20 February 2013 has been set for the hearing on 

the merits of the case.

Furthermore, in compliance with the measures, on 16 March 2012 data on private contributions received were submitted to the 

municipality of Todi, proof of which was subsequently provided in a notification to the Competition Authority.
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23) Revenue

The key items comprising revenue are described below. The reasons for material differences are described in the “Financial 

review” section of the directors’ report.

(€ million) First half 2011 First half 2012

Core business revenue 1,744  1,791 

Other revenue and income  18   72 

 1,762  1,863 

Core business revenue is reported net of the following items:

(€ million) First half 2011 First half 2012

Additional fees for the distribution service  122   128 

Additional fees for the transportation service:   

- GS
T
 and RE

T
 fees referred to in Resolutions ARG/gas 93/10 and 177/10 (*) 120 94

- Interruptibility fee as per Resolution 277/07 and other fees (**)  8  36 

- Regional network capacity fee as per Resolution ARG/gas 45/07 - Equalisation  1  1

 129   131 

 251  259 

(*)  Electricity and Gas Authority Resolutions 93/10 and 177/10 introduce, with effect from 1 January 2011, the accessory tariff components GS
T
 and RE

T
, intended to finance, respectively, the 

“Account to offset subsidised tariffs for disadvantaged gas customers” (GS Account) and the “Fund for calculating and implementing energy savings and developing renewable sources in the 
natural gas sector” (RE Account). Amounts collected from Snam Rete Gas are paid to the Electricity Equalisation Fund.

(**)  These payments regard: (i) fees arising from application of the incentive mechanism for limiting natural gas consumption; (ii) fees arising from application of factor-guarantee revenues for 
the regasification service; and (iii) equalisation imbalances in regional transportation revenues; (iv) fees arising from application of guaranteed revenues for the storage service.

Core business revenue of €1,791 million mainly consists of regulated revenue from transportation (€954 million), distribution (€612 

million), storage (€195 million) and LNG regasification (€11 million) services.

Core business revenue is analysed by business segment in Note 29, “Segment information”. Snam generates all of its revenue in Italy.

Other revenue and income (€72 million) break down as follows:

(€ million) First half 2011 First half 2012

Income from the sale of gas for the balancing service (*)  46

Capital gains from disposals of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 1                         6

Plant safety inspection fee and compensation for missed readings 2                         5

Contractual penalties and other income relating to commercial contracts 1 5

Income from property investments 3 3 

Insurance compensation 1     1 

Revenues from the sale of Energy Efficiency Certificates 1  

Other income 9 6

18 72

(*) Revenue from the balancing business, operational since 1 December 2011, in accordance with Resolution ARG/gas 45/11 of the Electricity and Gas Authority, relates to sales of natural gas 
made for the purposes of balancing the gas network. The revenue is matched to operating costs linked to withdrawals from the gas storage system.

Snam’s business is not affected by seasonal factors which would have a significant impact on its annual or interim financial 

results.
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24) Operating costs

The key items under operating costs are described below. The reasons for material differences are described in the “Financial 

review” section of the directors’ report.

(€ million) First half 2011 First half 2012

Purchases, services and other costs 292  328

Personnel expenses 170 177

 462 505

Operating costs include the costs of constructing and upgrading distribution infrastructure in accordance with IFRIC 12 (€168 

million and €147 million in the first half of 2011 and first half of 2012 respectively). 

Purchases, services and other costs

Purchases, services and other costs (€328 million) break down as follows:

(€ million) First half 2011 First half 2012

Costs incurred for raw materials, consumables, supplies and goods 79 101

Costs for services 212 220

Costs for the use of third-party assets 26 26

Change in raw materials, consumables, supplies and goods  (16) 29

Net accrual to provisions for risks and charges 6 13

Other operating expenses 18 23

 325 412

Less:   

Raw materials, consumables, supplies and goods:   

Increase on internal work - purchases  (21)          (60)

  (21) (60)

Services:   

Increase on internal work - services  (12) (24)

  (12) (24)

 292 328

Costs for services of €196 million relate to:

(€ million) First half 2011 First half 2012

Construction, planning and coordination of work  82 79

Purchase of transportation capacity (interconnection) 25 21

Technical, legal, administrative and professional services 17 18

IT (information technology) services 15  18

Maintenance 17  16

Personnel-related services 13  12

Telecommunications services 9  11

Utilities 11  10

Insurance 6  10

Other services 17  25

 212 220

less:   

Increase on internal work capitalised in non-current assets - services                    (12)      (24)

    (12)                    (24)

 200 196
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The costs of construction, planning and coordination of work (€79 million) relate mainly to the construction and upgrading of 

concession infrastructure for natural gas distribution activities.

The purchase of transportation capacity (€21 million) relates to the transportation service provided by other operators on their 

networks (interconnection).

Technical, legal, administrative and professional services (€18 million) relate mainly to accounting, administrative, consultancy and 

legal services.

Maintenance services (€16 million) relate mainly to plant maintenance services.

Personnel-related services (€12 million) chiefly consist of reimbursements of travel expenses, meals and training costs.

Other services (€25 million) are primarily composed of security and caretaker services, cleaning services, marketing services, metering 

services and aerial pipeline monitoring services.

Costs for the use of third-party assets of €26 million mainly concern fees for the natural gas distribution concession (€17 million), in 

addition to leasings and rentals (€6 million), which essentially consist of charges for operating leases on office premises.

Allocations to the provisions for risks and charges (€13 million) mainly refer to the provision for environmental charges (€10 million). 

Personnel expense

Personnel expense of €177 million break down as follows:

(€ million) First half 2011 First half 2012

Wages and salaries 138 141 

Social security contributions (pensions and healthcare assistance) 43 44 

Employee benefits  3 3 

Other expenses  9 11 

Less:   

Increase on internal work - personnel expense  (23) (22)

 170 177

The average number of payroll employees included in the scope of consolidation, broken down by status, is as follows:  

Professional status 30.06.2011 31.12.2011 30.06.2012

Executives 117 119  117

Managers 509 516  552

Office workers 3,225 3,227  3,266

Manual workers 2,213 2,207  2,149

 6,064 6,069 6,084

The average number of employees is calculated as the average monthly figure.
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Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses 

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses amount to €345 million and break down as follows:

(€ million) First half 2011 First half 2012

Amortisation and depreciation   

Property, plant and equipment 240 255

Intangible assets 82 90

 322 345

Impairment losses   

Intangible assets   

Less:

Recovery of value  (8)  

 314 345

Amortisation and depreciation (€345 million) relate to the natural gas transportation (€224 million), distribution (€87 

million), storage (€31 million) and regasification (€2 million) segments.

25) Financial expenses (income)

Financial expenses (income) amount to €167 million, broken down as follows:

(€ million) First half 2011 First half 2012

Financial income (1) (2)

Financial expense 106 126

 105 124

Derivatives 40  43

 145 167

The net value of financial income and expense (€124 million) breaks down as follows:

(€ million) First half 2011 First half 2012

Financial expense related to net financial debt 118 134

- Interest and other expenses from banks and other lenders 118 134

Other financial (income) expense   

- Accretion discount (*) 5 7

- Other financial expense 3 2

- Other financial income (1) (2)

 7 7

Financial expense capitalised (20) (17)

 105 124

(*)  This item refers to the increase in provisions for risks and charges, which are reported at discounted value under non-current liabilities on the balance sheet.

Expenses associated with net financial debt (€134 million) relate to interest on loans received from the ultimate parent, Eni 

S.p.A.. Other financial income and expense (€7 million) relate mainly to the accretion discount and to interest income and 

expense on tariff components in the transportation business segment.

The financial expenses capitalised (€17 million) relates to the part of financial expense absorbed by investments.
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Derivatives

Losses on derivatives (€43 million) relate to differential interest accrued during the period on derivative contracts hedging interest 

rate risk. The 17 derivative contracts outstanding at 30 June 2012 were with the ultimate parent, Eni S.p.A.. Details on the fair value 

of these contracts can be found in Note 15, “Other current liabilities”.

26) Income from equity investments 

Income from equity investments (€24 million) is analysed below: 

(€ million)    First half 2011 First half 2012

Capital gains from measurement by the equity method 28 24

    28 24 

Details of capital gains from measurement by the equity method (€24 million) can be found in Note 9, “Equity-accounted 

investments”.

27) ) Income taxes

Income taxes (€362 million) break down as follows:

(€ million) First half 2011 First half 2012

Current taxes:   

- IRES 299 332

- IRAP 69 63

 368 395

Deferred and prepaid taxes:   

- Deferred  (30)  (37)

- Prepaid  (45)  4

  (75) (33)

 293 362

The tax rate was 41.6% (to 33.7% in the first half of 2011), compared with a theoretical rate of 33%. The increase by comparison 

with the theoretical rate is mainly due to higher charges arising from application of additional IRES (Robin Hood Tax) to the 

natural gas transportation and distribution segments, implementing Decree Law 138 of 13 August 2011, converted into Law 

148 of 14 September 2011.

28) Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share are determined by dividing net profit for the period by the weighted average number of Snam shares 

in issue during the period, excluding treasury shares.

Diluted earnings per share are determined by dividing net profit by the weighted average number of shares in issue during the 

period, excluding treasury shares, increased by the number of shares which could potentially be issued following the allocation 

or disposal of treasury shares held under stock option plans.

The weighted average number of shares in issue used to calculate diluted earnings per share is 3,377,946,774 and 3,378,679,890 

respectively for the first half of 2011 and the first half of 2012.
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The reconciliation of the weighted average number of shares in issue used to determine basic and diluted earnings per share 

is set out below:

 First half 2011 First half 2012

Weighted average number of outstanding shares used to calculate basic earnings per share 3,377,497,325  3,378,634,943

Number of potential shares following stock option plans 449,449  44,947

Weighted average number of outstanding shares used to calculate diluted earnings per share 3,377,946,774 3,378,679,890

Net profit attributable to Snam (€ million) 576  508

Basic earnings per share (€ per share) 0.17 0.15

Diluted earnings per share (€ per share) 0.17 0.15

29) Segment information
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First half 2011

Net core business revenue (a) 970 614 192 17 1.793 

less: inter-segment revenue (27)  (17) (5) (49)

Revenue from third parties 943 614 175 12 1.744 

Other revenue and income 8 8 1 1 18 

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses (214) (73) (25) (2) (314)

EBIT 588 255 139 4 986 

Equity method valuation effect  28   28 

Directly attributable current assets 750 299 655 15 1,719 

Directly attributable non-current assets 11,599 4,152 2,622 88 18,461 

Of which:      

- Equity-accounted investments  306   306 

Directly attributable current liabilities 3,977 760 1,026 18 5,781 

Directly attributable non-current liabilities  5,699 1,466 1,194 17 8,376 

Capital expenditure 369 180 131 1 681 

First half 2012       

Net core business revenue (a) 80 961 619 220 17 1,897

less: inter-segment revenue (74) (5) (1) (20) (6) (106)

Revenue from third parties 6 956 618 200 11 1,791

Other revenue and income  49 22  1 72

Net accrual to provisions for risks and charges   (13)   (13)

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses (1) (224) (87) (31) (2) (345)

Income from measurement at equity   24   24

EBIT 4 589 259 159 2 1,013

Directly attributable current assets 148 1,220 462 605 13 2,448

Directly attributable non-current assets  22 11,977 4,301 3,155 87 19,542

Of which:       

- Equity-accounted investments   310   310

Directly attributable current liabilities 184 2,701 1,215 1,210 14 5,324

Directly attributable non-current liabilities  1,526 6,493 1,340 1,508 16 10,883

Capital expenditure 3 301 157 63  524

(a) Before elimination of inter-segment revenue.
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Inter-segment revenue is generated by applying regulated tariffs or market conditions. Revenue of the Company is generated 

entirely in Italy; costs are incurred almost entirely in Italy.

30) Related party transactions

Snam S.p.A. is a company controlled by Eni S.p.A., which at 30 June 2012 held 52.53% of its shares.

The related-party transactions conducted by Snam mainly involve the provision of services, the exchange of goods, and the 

provision and utilisation of financial resources, including the arrangement of derivative contracts for hedging interest rate risk 

with the ultimate parent, Eni S.p.A., and its subsidiaries, as well as with associates and entities under common control, and with 

Enel S.p.A., a state-controlled company, and its subsidiaries.

All transactions are part of ordinary business activities and are generally settled on the basis of market conditions, i.e. under 

conditions that would be applied for two independent parties, and are performed in the interests of Snam companies.

In accordance with the disclosure requirements introduced by Consob Regulation 17221 of 12 March 2010, the following 

related-party transactions were conducted in the first half of 2012:

- On 22 March 2012, two contracts were signed between Stogit S.p.A. and Saipem S.p.A. to provide retail engineering services 

for the new gas storage centre in Bordolano (for an estimated sum of approximately €27 million) and the centres at Fiume 

Treste, Minerbio and Cortemaggiore (for an estimated sum of approximately €11 million);

- On 14 May 2012, a contract was signed between Eni and Stogit to create new storage capacity for 4 billion Sm3 of natural 

gas by 31 August 2015 in relation to the implementation of measures set out in Legislative Decree 130/2010;

- On 24 April 2012, a memorandum of understanding was signed between Italgas S.p.A. and Acegas-Aps S.p.A. to create a 

joint venture to develop gas distribution activities in the provinces of Padua, Pordenone, Trieste and Gorizia (the transaction 

specifically relates to the acquisition from Eni by Italgas of 50% of the share capital of Isontina Reti Gas for €8.7 million);

- extension from 30 March to 30 June of a short-term loan of €500 million contracted with Eni, on the existing terms (spread 

of 310 bps).

 

Under Article 13 of the Consob Regulation, these contracts are classed as ordinary transactions concluded under market-

equivalent or standard conditions since: (i) they fall within the scope of normal business operations and the associated financial 

activities; and (ii) the terms are similar to those usually practised with non-related parties for transactions of an equivalent 

nature, size and risk.

The amounts of related party transactions of a commercial and financial nature for the first half of 2011 and the first half of 

2012 are reported below. The nature of the most significant transactions is also stated.
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COMMERCIAL AND OTHER TRANSACTIONS 

Name 31.12.2011 First half 2011

 Receivables Payables Guarantees  Costs (a)  Revenue (b)

(€ million)    Goods Services Other Goods Services Other

Ultimate parent          

 Eni S.p.A. 452 121 65 77 16   908 5

 452 121 65 77 16  908 5

Eni subsidiaries          

- Eni Adfin S.p.A.  10 12   7     

- Eni Hellas S.p.A.          

- Eni Insurance Ltd.     4     

- Enicorporate University S.p.A.  3   1     

- EniServizi S.p.A. 3 14   7     

- Saipem Energy Services S.p.A.          

- Saipem S.p.A.  64   36     

- Serfactoring S.p.A.  40        

- Syndial S.p.A.  1        

- Other (c) 2 2   1    1

 15 136  56  1

Entities under common control and associates of Eni        

- Cepav (Consorzio Eni per l'Alta Velocità) 2         

- Other (c) 1 1   (..) (..)    

 3 1   (..) (..)    

Entities under common control and associates          

- A.E.S. S.p.A. 1 3        

- Servizi Territori Aree Penisole S.p.A. 2         

- Toscana Energia S.p.A. 2 1        

- Other (c) 3       1  

 8 4     1  

State-owned or -controlled companies          

- Anas group 3 5        

- Enel group 64 5      201  

- Ferrovie dello Stato group 1 4      1  

- Finmeccanica group     1     

- Other (c)  1        

68 15   1  202

Total 546 277 65 77 73   1,111 6

(a) Includes costs for goods and services to be used in investing activities.  
(b)  Before tariff components which are offset in costs.
(c)  Individually less than €1 million.
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Name 30.06.2012 First half 2012

 Receivables Payables Guarantees Costs (a) Revenue  (b)

(€ million)    Goods Services Other Goods Services Other

Ultimate parent          

- Eni S.p.A. 446 353 73  4 12 2  944 23

 446 353 73 4 12 2  944 23

Eni subsidiaries          

- Eni Adfin S.p.A. 2 3        

- Eni Insurance Ltd.     2     

- Enicorporate University S.p.A.  1        

- EniServizi S.p.A. 3 13   3     

- Saipem S.p.A.  54   36     

- Serfactoring S.p.A.  16        

- Syndial S.p.A.  1        

- Other (c) 1 3  1 1    1

6 91  1 42  1

          

Entities under common control  
and associates of Eni

       

- Cepav (Consorzio Eni per l'Alta Velocità)   (..) (..)    

- Other (c)     (..) (..)    

Entities under common control and associates       

- A.E.S. S.p.A. 21 3        

- Servizi Territori Aree Penisole S.p.A. 3       

- Toscana Energia S.p.A. 12 1      1  

- Other (c) 2      1 1

 38 4      2 1

State-owned or -controlled companies          

- Anas group 2 4     

- Enel group 92 21      212  

- Ferrovie dello Stato group 3       2  

- Other (c)        

 97 25   214

Total 587 473 73 5 54 2  1,160 25

(a) Includes costs for goods and services to be used in investing activities.  
(b)  Before tariff components which are offset in costs.
(c)  Individually less than €1 million.
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Ultimate parent 

Commercial transactions

The most important active commercial transactions with the ultimate parent, Eni S.p.A., concern the provision of regulated gas 

services relating to transportation, regasification, distribution and storage, on the basis of tariffs established by the Electricity 

and Gas Authority.

The principal passive commercial transactions mainly concern the supply of electricity used for business activities and natural 

gas used in the creation of storage infrastructure. These transactions are governed by contracts entered into under normal 

market conditions.

Snam also has transactions in place in connection with contracts for the provision of consultancy and technical/operational 

support services relating to storage fields. These transactions are governed by service agreements on the basis of the costs 

incurred.

Other transactions 

As established by the contract for the purchase of Italgas and Stogit from Eni, signed on 30 June 2009, the price determined for 

the acquisition of the two companies is subject to adjustment mechanisms, to be applied if necessary after the date of execution 

of the contract, based on commitments assumed when the acquisition was finalised. As a result of such commitments, in the 

first half of 2012 asset adjustments in favour of Snam (owed by Eni) were recognised in the amount of €5 million in relation 

to the measurement of liabilities on events already in existence on the contract completion date.

Finally, transactions exist with Eni within the context of the national tax consolidation scheme, which is subscribed to by all 

companies within the scope of consolidation of the Snam Group, and the VAT consolidation scheme. These transactions are 

governed by the appropriate legally binding contracts.

Subsidiaries of Eni 

The key transactions with Eni’s subsidiaries relate to:

- Saipem S.p.A., for design and project supervision services in relation to the construction of natural gas transportation 

infrastructure, governed by contracts entered into at normal market conditions;

- Serfactoring S.p.A. for factoring transactions performed by Snam suppliers.

Entities under common control and associates 

Transactions with entities under common control and associates relate to the provision of IT services governed by contracts 

entered into at normal market conditions.

State-owned or -controlled companies 

Transactions with state-owned or -controlled companies relate mainly to the Enel Group and concern natural gas transportation, 

regasification, distribution and storage services. These transactions are governed on the basis of tariffs established by the 

Electricity and Gas Authority. 
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FINANCIAL TRANSACTIONS

Name 31.12.2011 First half 2011

(€ million) Pa
ya

bl
es

O
th

er
 

lia
bi

lit
ie

s 
(a

)

Ex
pe

n
se

 
(b

) 
(c

)

Ultimate parent   
 
 

- Eni S.p.A. 11,199 266 158

 11,199 266 158

(a)  Includes assets and liabilities deriving from the measurement of derivative contracts.
(b)  Includes financial expense for investments.
(c) Includes €40 million relating to expenses on derivatives.

Name 30.06.2012 First half 2012

(€ million) Pa
ya

bl
es

O
th

er
 

lia
bi

lit
ie

s 
(a

)
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pe

n
se

 
(b

) 
(c

)

Ultimate parent   
 
 

- Eni S.p.A. 10,238 324 176

 10,238 324 176

(a)  Includes assets and liabilities deriving from the measurement of derivative contracts.
(b)  Includes financial expense for investments. 
(c) Includes €43 million relating to expenses on derivatives. 

Ultimate parent

Dealings with the parent company, Eni S.p.A., relate to the hedging of financial requirements, utilisation of liquidity and interest 

rate risk hedging using derivative contracts.
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Impact of related party transactions or positions on the balance sheet, income statement and statement of cash 

flows

The effect of transactions or positions with related parties on the balance sheet is summarised in the following table: 

 31.12.2011 30.06.2012

(€ million)  Total
Related 
parties

Share 
(%)  Total

Related 
parties

Share 
(%)

Trade and other receivables 1,545 546 35.3 2,138 587 27.5

Other current assets 33 2 6.1 46  

Other non-current assets 81 1 1.2 100 1 1.0

Short-term financial liabilities 2,787 2,787 100.0 3,044 3,032 99.6

Long-term financial liabilities 8,412 8,412 100.0 8,706 7,206 82.8

Trade and other payables  1,344 277 20.6 1,567 473 30.2

Other current liabilities 211 78 37.0 193 100 51.8

Other non-current liabilities 869 188 21.6 1,010 225 22.3

The effect of transactions or positions with related parties on the income statement is summarised in the following table:

 First half 2011 First half 2012

(€ million)  Total
Related 
parties

Share 
(%)  Total

Related 
parties

Share 
(%)

Core business revenue 1,744 1,111 63.7 1,791 1,160 64.8

Other revenue and income 18 6 33.3 72 25 34.7

Purchases, services and other costs 292 37 12.7 328 23 7.0

Financial expense 106 98 92.5 126 116 92.1

Losses on derivative contracts 40 40 100.0 43 43 100.0
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The principal cash flows with related parties are shown in the following table:

(€ million) First half 2011 First half 2012

Revenue and income 1,117 1,185

Cost and expense (37) (23)

Change in trade and other receivables 74 74

Change in trade and other payables (60) 53

Dividends collected 29 2

Interest collected   

Interest paid (138) (155)

Net cash flows from operating activities 985 1,136

Investments:   

- Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (133) (55)

- Companies entering the scope of consolidation 9 5

- Change in payables and receivables relating to investments (76)  (18)

Cash flows from investment activities (200)  (68)

Divestments:   

- Equity investments   

Cash flows from divestments   

Net cash flows from investment activities (200) (68)

Taking on long-term financial debt 422 21

Repaying long-term financial debt (320) (1,227)

Increase (decrease) in short-term financial debt 283  245

Dividends paid (263)  (263)

Net cash flows from financing activities 122 (1,224)

Total cash flows with related parties 907 (156)

The effect of cash flows with related parties is shown in the following table:

 First half 2011 First half 2012

(€ million)  Total
Related 
parties

Share 
(%)  Total

Related 
parties

Share 
(%)

Cash flow from operating activities 874 985 614 1,136  

Cash flow from investment activities (796) (200) 25.1 (678) (68) 10.0

Cash flow from financing activities (83) 122  78 (1,224)  
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31) Significant non-recurring events and transactions

No significant non-recurring events and/or transactions took place in the first half of 2012.

32) Positions or transactions deriving from atypical and/or unusual transactions

No positions or transactions deriving from atypical and/or unusual transactions are reported for the first half of 2012.  

33) Post-balance sheet events

Post-balance sheet events are described in the “Post-balance sheet events” section of the directors’ report.
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Certification of the condensed interim financial statements required pursuant 
to Article 81-ter of Consob Regulation 11971 of 14 May 1999, as subsequently 
amended and supplemented

1.  The undersigned Carlo Malacarne and Antonio Paccioretti, as Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of Snam 

S.p.A. respectively, certify, taking into account Article 154-bis, paragraphs 3 and 4 of Legislative Decree 58 of 24 February 

1998:

- the adequacy, considering the group’s characteristics, and 

- the effective implementation

 of the administrative and accounting procedures for the preparation of the condensed interim financial statements at 30 

June 2012, during the first half of 2012.

2. The administrative and accounting procedures for the preparation of the condensed interim financial statements at 30 June 

2012 and the assessment of their adequacy were carried out using the rules and methods set out in line with the Internal 

Control - Integrated Framework model issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway Commission, a 

benchmark framework for the internal control system generally accepted internationally.

3. It is also certified that:

3.1 The condensed interim financial statements at 30 June 2012:

a)  were prepared in accordance with the applicable international accounting standards recognised in the European 

Community pursuant to Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 19 July 

2002;

b)  are consistent with the accounting records and ledgers;

c)  are able to provide a true and fair view of the financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the issuer 

and of the companies included in the scope of consolidation.

3.2 The directors’ report includes a fair review of the references to key events which occurred during the first six months 

of the year and their impact on the condensed interim financial statements, together with a description of the main 

risks and uncertainties for the remaining six months of the year. The directors’ report also includes a fair review of the 

information about significant transactions with related parties.

 

30 July 2012

 /signature/Carlo Malacarne  /signature/Antonio Paccioretti 

 ___________________ _____________________

 Carlo Malacarne Antonio Paccioretti 

 Chief Executive Officer   Director of Planning, Administration, Finance and Control
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